HETEROCYCLIC α-OXOESTERS (HETARYL GLYOXYLATES): SYNTHESIS AND CHEMICAL TRANSFORMATIONS. Part 1. DOI: http://dx.medra.org/10.17374/targets.2023.26.533

Bohdan V. Vashchenko,^{a,b} Oleksandr Geraschenko,^{a,b} Oleksandr O. Grygorenko^{a,b}*

^aEnamine Ltd., Chervonotkatska Street 78, Kyïv 02094, Ukraine

^bTaras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv, Volodymyrska Street 60, Kyiv 01601, Ukraine

(e-mail: gregor@univ.kiev.ua)

Abstract. In this review, synthesis and chemical properties of pyrrolyl, furyl, thienyl glyoxylates, and their fused derivatives are surveyed. Depending on the nature of the heterocyclic substituent and the position of the ketoester moiety, direct Friedel-Crafts acylation, metalation-glyoxylation, or heterocyclization can be the method of choice to prepare the title compounds. The chemical behavior of hetaryl glyoxylates correlates with their electronic properties as highly electrophilic ketones. Indeed, the ketone functional groups participates in most chemical transformations, often chemoselectively (e.g. reduction, formation of oximes, imines, and hydrazones, addition of organometallic reagents, condensations, olefination, or deoxofluorination). Of particular interest are heterocyclizations of the title compounds, which can occur at the ketone, ester, and both moieties (i.e. as 1,2-CC-bis-electrophiles).

Contents

1. Introduction

2. Synthesis of pyrrolyl, furyl, thienyl glyoxylates and their fused analogues

- 2.1. Pyrrolyl glyoxylates
- 2.2. Furyl glyoxylates
- 2.3. Thienyl glyoxylates
- 2.4. Indolyl glyoxylates
- 2.5. Benzofuryl and benzothienyl glyoxylates
- 3. Chemical transformations of pyrrolyl, furyl, thienyl glyoxylates and their fused analogs
- 3.1. Reduction reactions
- 3.2. Reactions with heteroatom nucleophiles
- 3.3. Reactions with C-nucleophiles
- 3.4. Heterocyclizations

4. Conclusions

Acknowledgement

References

1. Introduction

This review covers synthesis and chemical transformations of heterocyclic α -oxoesters, also known as heterocyclic α -ketoesters, hetaryl-2-oxoacetates, or hetaryl glyoxylates. These derivatives are valuable representatives of 1,2-dicarbonyl compounds and bis-electrophiles that provide numerous possibilities for the synthesis of functionalized heterocycles. Common transformations of hetaryl glyoxylates reported in the literature include (Figure 1): a) *ketone reactivity:* selective reduction, formation of oximes and imines, condensations, addition of Grignard reagents, alkenylation, deoxofluorination, heterocyclizations. The result of heterocyclizations: one carbon atom of the α -oxoester becomes a part of heterocyclizations: both carbon atoms of the α -oxoester become a part of the heterocycle, *i.e.* [4+2]-cyclization in reactions with binucleophiles (for example, 1,2-diamines), condensations with amides, three-component condensations with amines and aldehydes; c) *ester reactivity:* hydrolysis, amination, heterocyclizations. The result of heterocyclizations: one carbon atom of the α -oxoester becomes a part of heterocyclizations. The result of heterocyclizations in reactions with amines and aldehydes; c) *ester reactivity:* hydrolysis, amination, heterocyclizations. The result of heterocyclizations: one carbon atom of the α -oxoester becomes a part of heterocyclizations.

Due to the increased reactivity of their carbonyl group, heterocyclic α -oxoesters can undergo many important transformations, *e.g.* Paal-Knorr synthesis, Dieckmann cyclization, Fischer indole synthesis, Friedlander and Pfitzinger reactions, Pictet-Spengler reaction, aldol condensation, reductive aza-Wittig

cyclization, Bayliss-Hillman cyclization, [2+2]-, [3+2]-, and [4+2]-cycloadditions *etc.*¹ For example, synthetic utility of the dicarbonyl compounds was demonstrated by the preparation of substituted quinoxalines that are widely used as photoinitiators and fluorescence sensors.²⁻⁵ Such transformations of hetaryl glyoxylates allow the construction of organic molecules bearing two or more heterocyclic fragments (Scheme 1).





Scheme 1. Heterocyclizations of hetaryl glyoxylates: an approach to compounds with two or more heterocyclic fragments.

Derivatives of heterocyclic α -ketocarboxylates are found among biologically and medicinally important compounds since they can act as reversible covalent binders. Examples include antithrombotic agent Tiplasinin 1,^{6,7} agent for treatment of Alzheimer's disease Aleplasinin 2,⁸ antitumor agents Indibulin 3⁹⁻¹² and Rosabulin 4,¹³ as well as drug for septic shock treatment Varespladib 5^{14,15} (Figure 2). In 2020, Aleplasinin was also studied for activity against SARS-CoV-2 as an inhibitor of plasminogen activator 1 (PAI-1) with an α -ketocarboxylate group that covalently binds to threonine residues.^{16,17}



Figure 2. Pharmaceutically important derivatives of heterocyclic a-ketocarboxylates.

2. Synthesis of pyrrolyl, furyl, thienyl glyoxylates and their fused analogs

2.1. Pyrrolyl glyoxylates

The Friedel-Crafts acylation of pyrroles are most often used for the synthesis of pyrrol-2-ylglyoxylates $6.^{18-21}$ The parent pyrrole 6 slowly reacts with oxalyl dichloride, but the use of acidic activators for the electrophilic substitution is not suitable since they cause polymerization of the substrate.

The reported procedure included dropwise addition of pyrrole to oxalyl chloride in a low-boiling solvent, i.e. CH₂Cl₂, with immediate removal of the formed HCl from the reaction mixture. In contrast, pyrroles bearing one or two methyl groups (e.g. N-methylpyrrole) underwent acylation already at -50 °C giving 1,2-di(1H-pyrrol-2-yl)ethane-1,2-diones (i.e. 2:1 adducts). In turn, glyoxalyl chlorides of type 7 thus formed could be converted into the corresponding glyoxalic acids by the reaction with methanolic KOH or methyl glyoxylate 8 by direct reaction with MeOH (22% yield, Scheme 2).²²



Scheme 2. Synthesis of methyl pyrrol-2-ylglyoxylate 8

An improved synthesis of pyrrol-2-ylglyoxylate 8 providing the target product in 57% yield included the reaction of pyrrole with oxalyl chloride at -78 °C, followed by treatment with MeONa in MeOH (Scheme 3).²³ Other alcohols could be easily introduced into the reaction in analogous manner to give t-Bu,²⁴ *i*-Bu,²⁵ Bn,²⁶ n-octyl²⁷ esters *etc*.

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} 1. (COCI)_2, Et_2O, -78 \text{ °C}, 1 \text{ h} \\ 1. (COCI)_2, Et_2O, -78 \text{ °c}, 1 \text{ h} \\ 2. MeONa, MeOH, -78 \text{ to } 0 \text{ °c} \end{array} \right) \xrightarrow{O}_{N} OMe$$

Scheme 3. Optimized method for the synthesis of methyl pyrrol-2-ylglyoxylate 8.

Numerous examples of the Friedel-Crafts acylation of N- and/or C-substituted pyrroles 9 with at least one free α -position with alkyl oxalyl chlorides have been reported to date. In most cases, the reaction has been performed under basic conditions with the formation of 10 (common conditions: pyridine in CH₂Cl₂ or other base) (Table 1, Entries 1-13) or upon base-free conditions (Entry 14, 15).²⁸ As mentioned above, the use of acidic catalysts is less common due to the possible electrophilic polymerization of pyrroles. However, some reports included the use of BF₃-Et₂O (Entries 16, 17), AlCl₃ (Entry 18), or SnCl₄ (Entries 19, 20).

Table 1.	Synthe	sis of	sub	stituted	pyrro	le-2-ylg	glyoxylates	10.
	D 3	D 4	0	OR ⁵	D 3	D4		

	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$												
	R ¹ 9 R ¹ ^O 10												
n.	\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	R ³	R ⁴	R ⁵	Conditions	Yield %	Ref.					
1	Ma	п	ц	ц	Et	Pyridine, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , -78 °C to	65	29					
2	Ivie	me H H H Et rt, 48 h		83	28								
3	Me	Н	Н	OMe	Et		N.A.	28					
4	Me Me OMe H		Η	Et	Pyridine, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt, 48 h	N.A.	28						
5	Boc	Me	OMe	Η	Me		N.A.	28					
6	CH ₂ CH ₂ OAc	Н	Н	Н	Et	Pyridine, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , -25 °C to rt, 18 h	71	30					
7	CH ₂ CH ₂ OTHP	Н	Н	Н	Et	Pyridine, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , -20 to 0 °C, 24 h	86	30					
8	CH ₂ CH ₂ Cl	Η	Н	Η	Et	NaH, DMF, -20 °C to rt, 20 h	74	30					
9	(CH ₂) ₄		OMe	Η	Me	Puriding CH-Cl. rt 48 h	N.A.	28					
10	(CH ₂) ₄		OMe	Η	Et	r yriunic, Cr12Cl ₂ , ft, 48 fi	N.A.	28					
11	Bn	(C	2H ₂) ₃	Н	Et	Pyridine, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , –78 °C to rt, 48 h	69	31					

12	TIPS ^[a]	Н	Н	Н	Et	Pyridine, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , –20 °C to rt, 48 h	9	32
13	3		Н	Н	Me	Na ₂ CO ₃ , CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt, 2.5 h, then reflux, 2 min	34	33
14	(CH ₂) ₃		Ph	4-ClC ₆ H ₄	Et	Benzene, 0 °C, 3 h, then 50 °C, 1 h	N.A.	21
15	2-BnC ₆ H ₄	Н	Н	Н	Et	Benzene, reflux, 4 h	69	34
16	$o-O_2NC_6H_4$	Н	Н	Н	Et		N.A.	35
17		Н	Н	Н	Et	BF ₃ -Et ₂ O, CH ₂ Cl ₂	N.A.	36
18	Н	Н	Ac	<i>n</i> -pentyl	Me	AlCl ₃ , CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 0 °C, 3 h, then reflux	30	37
19	Н	Н	Et	Et	Et	SnCl ₄ , CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt, 18.5 h	67	38
20	Et Et	Н	Et	Et	Et	SnCl4, CH2Cl2, rt, 17.5 h	69	38,39

^aThe corresponding *N*-unsubstituted product was formed in 9% yield, while the major product was *N*-TIPS-protected pyrrole-3-ylglyoxylate (79% yield).

The reaction of iminium salt 11 with ethyl oxalyl chloride resulted in the formation of three compounds: formyl-substituted pyrrol-3-yl-glyoxylate 12 (69% yield) and two minor by-products 13 and 14 (1% and 0.4% yield, respectively) (Scheme 4).⁴⁰



Scheme 4. Acylation of iminium salt 11 with ethyl oxalyl chloride.

The preparation of 1,4-disubstituted pyrrolo[1,2-*a*]pyrazine derivatives **18** included acylation of pyrrole-derived nitriles **15** with methyl oxalyl chloride (Scheme 5). The Friedel-Crafts acylation step was followed by palladium-catalyzed reduction of the nitrile group in compounds **16** and further aromatization of the intermediates **17** upon the action of DDQ. The method was suitable for both (het)aryl- and alkyl-substituted substrates **15** for the synthesis of products **18** in moderate yields (51-68%).⁴¹



Scheme 5. Synthesis of pyrrolo[1,2-*a*]pyrazine derivatives 18.

The Friedel-Crafts acylation with alkyl oxalyl chlorides was also reported for indolizine derivatives **19**. (Indolizin-3-yl)-2-oxoacetates **20** were formed as the major products in most cases. With C5-substituted derivatives, regioisomers **21** and/or bis-acylated products **22** were observed (Table 2).^{28,42,43}

An interesting example demonstrating the reaction chemoselectivity included the Friedel-Crafts acylation of fused pyrroles 23 bearing furan-2-yl, (benzo)furan-2-yl, and thien-2-yl substituents (Scheme

6).¹⁹ In these cases, the electrophilic substitution proceeded exclusively at the free C2-position of the pyrrole ring to give products **24**.

	Table 2. Synthesis of indolizinyl-2-oxoacetates 20-22.												
	\mathbb{R}^2 \mathbb{Q} \mathbb{R}^2 $\mathbb{Q}_{\mathbb{C}_2Et}$ \mathbb{C}_2Et												
	$R^1 \xrightarrow{CI^+CO_2Et}$ $R^1 \xrightarrow{R^1}$ $R^1 \xrightarrow{R^1}$												
	R^3 19 R^3 O OO_2Et R^3 R^3 CO_2Et												
				20	21	22	_						
n.	\mathbb{R}^1	R ²	R ³	Conditions	Yield % 20	Yield % 21	Yield % 22	Ref.					
1	Me	Н	Η	Benzene, rt, overnight or	67	0	0	43					
				reflux, 30 min									
2	Me	Н	Me	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 0 °C, 4.5 h	0	0	40	42					
3	Ph	Н	Me	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 0 °C, 24 h	37	6.4	22	28					
4	Н	TBDMSO	Η	Pyridine, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt, 48 h	63	0	0	28					



Scheme 6. Synthesis of fused pyrrolyl glyoxylates 24a-c.

A modified approach included the Vilsmeier-type reaction of *N*-benzylpyrrole **25** with 2-oxo-2-(pyrrolidin-1-yl)acetate **26** as the acylating agent in the presence of pyrophosphoryl chloride. This transformation led to the formation of two α - and β -isomeric glyoxylates **27** and **28** in 33% and 53% yields, respectively (Scheme 7).



Scheme 7. The use of 2-oxo-2-(pyrrolidin-1-yl)acetate 26 as the acylating agent.

Ethyl carbonocyanidate was one more reagent used to introduce the glyoxylate moiety into the pyrrole **29** to give products **30** (Scheme 8).⁴⁴⁻⁴⁷

Scheme 8. Acylation of pyrroles 29 with ethyl carbonocyanidate.

Acylation with diethyl oxalate have been reported for 1,2-dihydro-3*H*-pyrrol-3-one derivative **31** that can be considered as a tautomer of the corresponding 3-hydroxypyrrole **32**. In this case, the classical Claisen condensation was involved to give derivative **32** (Scheme 9).^{48,49}

Esterification of glyoxylic acids can be in principle used for the preparation of the corresponding esters. In particular, reaction of glyoxylic acid **33** with alkyl chloroformates in the presence of Et_3N in CH_2Cl_2 proceeded in 10 min to give alkyl glyoxylates **34** (Scheme 10).⁵⁰



Scheme 9. Acylation of 1,2-dihydro-3H-pyrrol-3-one 31.



Scheme 10. Alkylation of glyoxylic acids 33 with alkyl chloroformate.

Oxidation of the methylene group of 2-(1H-pyrrol-2-yl)acetates **35** with SeO₂ in the presence of Et₃N in pyridine served as an approach for the preparation of pyrrole-2-ylglyoxylate **36** (64% yield, Scheme 11).⁵¹



All the above methods relied on the incorporation of the glyoxylate moiety into already available pyrrole ring. An alternative strategy is based on the construction of the heterocyclic fragment. An interesting study in this direction included the reaction of 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds **37** (or their synthetic equivalents **38**) and 2*H*-azirines **39** resulting in the formation of pyrrol-3-yl oxoesters **40**. Glyoxylates **40** and regioisomeric 3-acyl-1*H*-pyrrole-2-carboxylates **41** (major products in most cases) could be obtained upon action of CuOAc in 1,2-dichloroethane at 50 °C (Scheme 12).⁵² Notably, *N*-unsubstituted pyrrol-2-ylgluoxylates are themselves reactive towards azirines through addition to the C=N bond.⁵³



Scheme 12. Reaction of 2H-azirines 39 and 1,3-dicarbonyl compounds or their synthetic equivalents.

Construction of fused pyrroles with an α -glyoxylate fragment is exemplified by the synthesis of 2-oxo-2-(pyrrolo[2,1-*a*]isoquinolin-3-yl)acetate **32**. The reaction involves isoquinoline **42** and bromopyruvate **43** as the starting materials forming the pyrrole ring of **44** (Scheme 13).⁵⁴ The method was also used for the preparation of the corresponding benzo analogs.⁵⁵



Scheme 13. Synthesis of 2-oxo-2-(pyrrolo[2,1-a]isoquinolin-3-yl)acetate 44.

Another example using bromopyruvate **43** to construct the heterocyclic scaffold of hetaryl glyoxylates included condensation with acetylene dicarboxylates **45** in the presence of DMAP in THF at rt, which resulted in the formation of (2-ethoxy-2-oxoacetyl)indolizine-2,3-dicarboxylates **46** (Scheme 14).⁵⁶ Phenanthridine could be also used as the reaction promotor instead of DMAP.⁵⁵



Scheme 14. Synthesis of 2-oxo-2-(pyrrolo[2,1-a]isoquinolin-3-yl)acetate 46.

A multicomponent reaction leading to hetaryl glyoxylates **34** involved condensation of isoquinoline **42**, bromopyruvate **43**, 2-hydroxyacetophenones **47**, and dimethyl carbonate (Scheme 15). Initially, intermediates **48** and **49** were formed; their condensation resulted in derivatives **50**, which led to pyrrolo[2,1-*a*]isoquinoline glyoxylates **51** in excellent yield.⁵⁷ These conditions have been also applied to benzene-1,2-carbaldehyde and aminopropionitrile.⁵⁸ Bromoacetophenones could be used instead of 2-hydroxyacetophenones in the presence of iron oxide and PPh₃ to give the same type of heterocyclic glyoxylates.⁵⁴



Scheme 15. A four-component reaction in the synthesis of hetaryl glyoxylates 51.

A novel approach to the synthesis of hetaryl glyoxylates includes the rhodium(III)-catalyzed C–H activation of 2-aryl- **52** or 2-alkenylpyridines **53** (and other azines) in the reaction with 2,3,3-trifluoracrylate **54**, which can be considered as a method for fusing two isolated (hetero)aromatic rings **55** and **56** (Scheme 16).⁵⁹



Scheme 16. Rhodium(III)-catalyzed C-H coupling of 2-arylpyridines 55 and 56.

2.2. Furyl glyoxylates

Synthesis of the parent representatives of furan-2-ylglyoxylates included the reaction of furan 57 with ethyl oxalyl chloride in the presence of AlCl₃ as a Lewis acid (for the synthesis of 58),⁶⁰ or the metalation-acylation sequence upon action of *n*-BuLi in the presence of HMPTA and CuI at -78 °C (to obtain 59) (Scheme 17).⁶¹



A related approach involved the acylation of the Grignard reagent, *e.g.* furan-2-ylmagnesium bromide **60**, with *t*-butyl-2-(1*H*-imidazol-1-yl)-2-oxoacetate **61**, which resulted in the formation of furan-containing glyoxylate **62** (Scheme 18).⁶² Acylation of 2,5-disubstituted furan **63** proceeded with low selectivity to give two products **64** and **65** due to the comparable electron density of the dimethoxybenzene ring (Scheme 19).⁶³

Scheme 18. Synthesis of *t*-butyl-2-(furan-2-yl)-2-oxoacetate 62.



Scheme 19. Selectivity of acylation of electron-rich 2-arylfuran 63.

As in the case of pyrrole derivatives, esterification of the corresponding glyoxylic acids (*e.g.* **66**) with alkyl chloroformates in the presence of Et_3N in CH_2Cl_2 can be used for the preparation of the corresponding esters, *e.g.* **67** (Scheme 20).⁵⁰



Scheme 20. Esterification of glyoxylic acid 66 with alkyl chloroformate.

Oxidation of the hydroxyacetate fragment in compounds **68** has been realized with *t*-BuOOH and RuCl₃ in H₂O-acetone (for the synthesis of compound **59**, 58% yield)⁶⁴ or in refluxing toluene in the presence of SeO₂ (for the synthesis of compound **69**) (Scheme 21).⁶⁵

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathsf{R=H; t-BuOOH, RuCl_3,} \\ \mathsf{R=O_2Me} \\ \textbf{68 OH} \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \mathsf{R=H; t-BuOOH, RuCl_3,} \\ \mathsf{H_2O-acetone, rt, 30 \min (58\%) or} \\ \mathsf{R=CO_2Me; SeO_2, toluene, reflux} \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \mathsf{R=O_2Me} \\ \textbf{59 or 69 O} \end{array}$$

Scheme 21. Oxidation of hydroxyacetates for the synthesis of oxoacetates 59 and 69.

Another example of the use of selenium dioxide is oxidation of the methylene group in the molecule of bifunctional furan-2-yl acetate **70** in refluxing xylene, which resulted in the formation of glyoxylate **71** bearing an additional ester group (Scheme 22).⁶⁰

Scheme 22. Preparation of furan-2-ylglyoxylate 71.

Preparative oxidation of 1-(furan-2-yl)ethan-1-one 72 with selenium dioxide, followed by the esterification of resulting furylglyoxalic acid 73 accompanied by the formation of ketal 74 and, finally, deprotection, provided compound 59 in 73% overall yield (Scheme 23).⁶⁶

$$\begin{array}{c|c} & \underline{SeO_2} \\ \hline & & \underline{Pyridine,} \\ 72 & \underline{0} & \underline{0} & \underline{0} & \underline{0} & \underline{0} \\ 100 & \underline{0} & \underline{0} & \underline{15} & \underline{h} \end{array} \xrightarrow[]{} \begin{array}{c} & \underline{SOCI_2, MeOH} \\ \hline & \underline{4A MS, rt} \\ \hline & \underline{MeO Me 74} \\ \hline & \underline{MeO Me 74} \\ \hline & \underline{MeON - H_2O} \\ \hline & \underline{100 & \underline{0} & \underline{15} \\ \hline & \underline{100 & \underline{0} & \underline{10} \\ \hline & \underline{100 & \underline{10} & \underline{10} \\ \hline & \underline{100 & \underline{10$$

Scheme 23. Synthesis of furan-2-ylglyoxylate 59 from 2-acetylfuran 72.

Compound **58** was formed in 61% yield by sp^3 -C-H oxidation of nitro ketone **75** with 1-[4-(diacetoxyiodo)benzyl]-3-methyl imidazole tetrafluoroborate **76** in ionic liquid (Scheme 24).⁶⁷

Scheme 24. Preparation of furan-2-ylglyoxylate 58.

Sharpless-type dihydroxylation of a derivative generated from furfural 77 using α -AD mix (K₄[Fe(CN)₆], OsO₄, Na₂CO₃, (DHQ)₂-PHAL) led to the formation of product **78** in 42% yield. Over-oxidation of compound **78** gave glyoxylate **59** through elimination-oxidation of intermediate **79** (Scheme 25).⁶⁸



Scheme 25. Synthesis of furan-2-ylglyoxylate 59 from furfural.

Multicomponent reactions of phosphines, diyndioates **80**, and aromatic aldehydes proceed through the initial $\alpha(\delta')$ -addition of phosphines to **80** followed by addition of the formed trienoates to aldehydes at the key step giving furan derivatives **81**. Intermediates **81** can be easily oxidized to the corresponding α -ketoesters **82** (Scheme 26).⁶⁹



Scheme 26. Synthesis of glyoxylates 82 through $\alpha(\delta')$ -addition of PPh₃ to dividioates 80.

2.3. Thienyl glyoxylates

Thiophene derivatives easily undergo electrophilic acylation with the formation of thien-2-ylglyoxylates, similarly to pyrroles and furans. A notable difference is that in most cases the reaction requires the presence of Lewis acids. It is worth noting that for thiophenes it is possible to perform the acylation selectively in both α - and β -positions. Typically, the substitution reaction proceeds at the C2 atom of the parent thiophene (as with derivatives **83** bearing alkyl and aryl groups, α -halo- and β -halothiophenes **84** and **85**, respectively) to give products **86** (Table 3).⁷⁰⁻⁸² If both α -positions are occupied by substituents (as in the case of **87**), thien-3-ylglyoxylates **88** are obtained (Table 4).^{73,83-91}

Table 3. Synthesis of thien-2-ylglyoxylates **86**. R^2 R^1 CI CO_2R^4 R^2 CO_2R^4

	R ³ S 83-85 R ³ S 0 86												
n.	\mathbb{R}^1	R ²	R ³	R ⁴	Yield %	Conditions	Ref.						
1	Н	Н	Н	Et	50	AlCl ₃ , CCl ₄ , rt 3 h	70						
2	Н	Н	Н	Et	N.A.	AlCl ₃ , CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 40 C, 6 h	71						
3	Н	Н	Н	Et	84	AlCl ₃ , CH ₂ Cl ₂ , rt, 1 h	72,73						
4	Н	Н	Bn	Et	17		74						
5	Н	Н	$4-ClC_6H_4$	Et		T:C1. C.H. 27° C 2 h	/4						
6	4-FC ₆ H ₄	4-MsC ₆ H ₄	Н	Et	N.A.	$11C14, C_6\Pi_6, 27$ C, 3 II	75						
7	$4-FC_6H_4$	4-MeSC ₆ H ₄	Н	Et			15						
8	Н	Н	Me	Et	64								
9	Me	Н	Н	Et	61								
10	Br	Н	Н	Et	79	AlCl ₃ , CH ₃ NO ₂ , 10 °C, 1 h,	76						
11	Н	Н	Br	Et	51	then rt, 1 h	70						
12	Cl	Н	Η	Et	68								
13	Н	Н	Cl	Et	61								
14	Н	Н	Br	Et	30	AlCl ₃ , CCl ₄ , -5 °C to rt, 4 h	77						
15	Н	Н	Br	Et									
16	Br	Н	Η	Et	N.A.	AlCl ₃ , CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 0 °C to rt, 5 h	78						
17	Н	Н	Н	Et									
18	Н	Н	Me	Et	61	AlCl ₃ , CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 0 °C, 50 min	79						
19	Н	Н	Н	Et	N.A.	AICla CHaCla rt 12 h	80						
20	Н	(CH	2)4	Et	7	AIC13, CH2C12, II, 12 II	80						
21	$4-O_2NC_6H_4$	Н	Н	Et	N.A.	AlCl ₃ , CHCl ₃ , rt, 24 h	81						
22	S o o	Н	Н	Et	65	AlCl ₃ , CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 0 °C to rt 1.5 h	82						

				0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		
		R [∠] ^s∕~R ⁱ 87	,	$AICI_3 \qquad R^2 \overset{\checkmark}{S} R^1 88$		
n.	\mathbb{R}^1	R ²	R ³	Conditions	Yield %	Ref
1	Me	Me	Et	MeNO ₂	89	87
2	Me	Me	Et	MeNO ₂ , 10 °C, 1 h to rt	82	83
3	Me	Me	Et	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , -5 °C, 2 h	79	84
4	Me	Me	Et	MeNO ₂ , 0 °C to rt, 2 h	70	88
5	Me	Me	Me	MeNO ₂ , 10 °C, 1 h	70	73
6	Me	Cl	Me	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 0 °C, 2 h	73	89
7	Me	Br	Me	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 0 °C, 3 h	68	90
8	Cl	Cl	Et	MeNO ₂ , 10 °C, 1 h to rt	77	83
9	Cl	Cl	Et	MeNO ₂ , 10 °C, 1 h	82	73
10	Me		Me	CH ₂ Cl ₂ , -5 °C, 20 h	49	91

 Table 4. Synthesis of thien-3-ylglyoxylates 88 by electrophilic acylation.

 \bigcirc
 \bigcirc </

542

11 Me
$$Et$$
 CH₂Cl₂, -5 °C, 2 h 95 84

Metalation-acylation of isomeric bromides **84** and **85** with dialkyl oxalates is another important approach to the synthesis of 2-oxo-2-(thiophen-2-yl)acetates **86** (Table 5).^{72,85,92-96} In the case of 3-halothiophenes **85** as the starting compounds (instead of 2-isomers **84**), the thien-3-yl anions initially formed during the metalation can rearrange into more stable α -isomeric anions. Thus, 2-oxo-2-(thiophen-2-yl)acetates **86** were obtained with both substrate types.⁸⁵ Meanwhile, 2,3,4,5-tetrabromothiophene gave 2,5-bis-glyoxylates under similar conditions.⁸⁶

	Table 5. Synthesis of thien-2-ylglyoxylates 86.											
	R_{1}^{3} R_{1}^{2} conditions R_{1}^{3} R_{2}^{2} $CO_{2}R_{2}^{5}$											
	$R^4 \xrightarrow{\sim} S$ 84, α-Br-isomer $R^4 \xrightarrow{\sim} S$ 0 85, β-Br-isomer 86											
n.	\mathbb{R}^1	R ²	R ³	R ⁴	R ⁵	Yield %	Conditions	Ref.				
1	Н	Η	Η	Η	Et	84	1. <i>n</i> -BuLi, –60 °C, 0.5 h	72				
2	Н	Br	Η	Br	Et	75	2. (CO ₂ Et) ₂ , -60 °C	12				
3	Br	Н	Н	Н	Me	75	1. <i>n</i> -BuLi, –80 °C, 0.5 h 2. (CO ₂ Me) ₂	85				
4						54	(CO ₂ Et) ₂ , -78 °C to rt, 2 h	92				
5	MaD#	т	тт	тт	E+	86	(CO ₂ Et) ₂ , Et ₂ O, -78 °C to 10 °C	93				
6	MgDr	п	п	п	Et 72 (CO ₂ Et) ₂ , THF, -78 °C, 1 h							
7						39	(CO ₂ Et) ₂ , THF, -10 °C, 1 h	96				

The above regioselectivity can be altered by varying the reaction conditions (metalation agent, solvent) or the order of the reagent addition. In particular, when *n*-BuLi was added to a solution of 3-bromothiophene **85a** and dimethyl oxalate in THF at -78 °C, only β -glyoxylate **88a** was obtained in 66% yield (analogous transformation in Et₂O resulted in 35% yield) (Scheme 27).⁸⁵ Metalation of 2-bromothiophene **84a** with LDA was accompanied by the halogen dance reaction providing 3-bromothien-2-yl anion as the major intermediate, which also led to the formation of the β -isomer **88a**.



Scheme 27. Synthesis of isomeric thienyl glyoxylates 86 and 88.

The highest yield of compound **88a** (76%) was achieved when 3-thienyllithium was obtained from 3-bromothiophene **84a**, followed by the preparation of Grignard reagent at -70 °C (*via* transmetalation) with subsequent addition of ethyl oxalate solution at the same temperature.⁹⁷ Another technique leading to thien-3-ylglyoxylate **88a** in 57% yield involved a direct formation of the Grignard reagent using magnesium and ethylene dibromide (Scheme 28).⁹⁸ In the case of 3-iodothiophene, an alternative approach was tested: *i*-PrMgCl was added to a solution of 3-iodothiophene with CuBr in THF at -15°C, the mixture was stirred, and a solution of ethyloxalyl chloride in THF was added dropwise to form **88b**.⁹⁹ It is worth mentioning that

acylation of bromothiophenes with retention of the bromine atom is possible by using the Lewis acidspromoted reaction.



Selective monometalation of 3,4-dibromothiophene **89** can be achieved by the addition of *t*-BuLi to a solution of dibromothiophene in Et₂O at -78 °C. After the subsequent addition of diethyl oxalate, bifunctional derivative **90** was obtained in 70% yield (Scheme 29).¹⁰⁰ Further reaction of compound **90** with mercaptoacetic ester in the presence of CuO and K₂CO₃ was used for the synthesis of thieno[3,4-*b*]thiophene-2,3-dicarboxylate **91** (40% yield).



Scheme 29. Synthesis of 90 and 91 from 3,4-dibromothiophene 89

Similar synthetic approach includes acylation of Grignard reagents initially generated from **84a** (thien-2-ylmagnesium bromide and its derivatives)^{101,102} with *t*-butyl-2-(1*H*-imidazol-1-yl)-2-oxoacetate **61** (51% yield of **92**)¹⁰³ or *t*-butyl ethyl oxalate (74% yield of **92**) (Scheme 30).¹⁰⁴

$$\begin{array}{c} \overbrace{S}^{\text{H}} = Br \\ 84a \end{array} \xrightarrow[N = \frac{1. \text{ Mg, } (CH_2Br)_2, \text{ THF, } 1 \text{ h}}{2. \text{ o} -78 ^{\circ} \text{C to}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{2. \text{ o}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{2. \text{ o}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{2. \text{ o}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{2. \text{ o}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{THF, } rt, 1 \text{ h}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{ H}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{ H}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{ H}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{ H}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{ H}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{ H}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{ H}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{ H}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{ H}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{ H}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{ H}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ Mg, } \text{ H}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{Bu}} \underbrace{I. \text{ M}}_{45 \text{ CO}_2 t-\text{M}} \underbrace{I. \text{ M}} \underbrace{I. \text{ M$$

Palladium-catalyzed double alkoxycarbonylation in the presence of alcohol can also be used for the synthesis of ketoesters. Following this approach, compound **93** was obtained in 62% yield (Scheme 31).^{105,106} It is worth noting that the corresponding β -glyoxylate **94** was formed as a side product (6% yield).¹⁰⁷



Scheme 31. Double alkoxycarbonylation reaction for the synthesis of glyoxylates 93 and 94.

As in the case of pyrrole and furan derivatives, esterification of the corresponding glyoxylic acids (*e.g.* **95**) with alkyl chloroformates in the presence of Et_3N in CH_2Cl_2 can be used for the preparation of the esters **86** (Scheme 32).⁵⁰



Scheme 32. Alkylation of glyoxylic acids with ethyl chloroformate.

It is possible to form the ketoester moiety by oxidation of thien-2-yl acetate **96** with selenium dioxide in anisole, as shown by the synthesis of compound **97** in 61% yield (Scheme 33).⁶⁵ Oxidation of the methylene unit of derivative **98** by the action of CuO and *t*-butylhydroperoxide at 110 °C¹⁰⁸ or oxygen in the presence of Co(OAc)₂ and hydroxyphthalimide¹⁰⁹ was used for the synthesis of thien-3-ylglyoxylate **88a,b** (R=Me, Et, 31% and 22% yield, respectively) (Scheme 34).





Scheme 34. Synthesis of glyoxylates by oxidation of thien-3-yl acetates 98.

Another synthetic sequence for the transformation of hetaryl acetates **99** into glyoxylates **86a,b** includes the Regits diazo transfer reaction with 4-acetamidobenzene sulfonyl azide, followed by oxidation of diazo compound **100** thus obtained with oxone (86% yield)¹¹⁰ or heating in DMSO at 75 °C¹¹¹ (Scheme 35).



Thienyl glyoxylates **86a,c** could be also obtained from the corresponding imidates **101**, which occurred in the presence of O₂, Cu(OAc)₂, and pyridine in toluene (Scheme 36).¹¹² An alternative approach included oxidation of α -hydroxyesters.¹¹³



Scheme 36. Synthesis of thien-2-yl acetates from imidates 101.

One more oxidative method for the preparation of thienyl glyoxilates included treatment of 2-(4-arylthio)-2-(thiophen-3-yl)acetate **102** with $Cu(OAc)_2$ in acetic acid, which resulted in the formation of compound **88a** in 48% yield (Scheme 37).¹¹⁴ A similar approach was described for the α -isomer **103** that was oxidized to glyoxylate **86d** in 44% yield.¹¹⁵ It was also found that 2,2-dibromo-1-(thiophen-2-yl)ethan-1-one **104** reacted with DMSO at the sulfur atom when heated, so that derivative **86a** was formed after the subsequent methanolysis in 70% yield (Scheme 38).¹¹⁶



Scheme 37. Oxidation of 2-(4-arylthio)-2-(thiophen-3-yl)acetates 102 and 103.

Scheme 38. Synthesis of 86a from 2,2-dibromo-1-(thiophen-2-yl)ethan-1-one 104.

The list of oxidative methods for the synthesis of glyoxylates also includes the reaction of 3-oxo-3-(thiophen-2-yl)propanenitrile 105 with bis(acetoxy)iodobenzene for the synthesis of compound 86b in 82% yield (Scheme 39).¹¹⁷ Photolysis of β -enaminones 106 and 107 in the presence of rose Bengal in EtOH was also used for the preparation of isomeric thienyl glyoxylates (Scheme 40).¹¹⁸

Scheme 39. Oxidation of cyanoketone 105 to derivative 86b.



It was found that α -hydroxy ketones could be oxidized to glyoxylates. Examples include the transformation of compound 108 into product 109 upon the action of Cu(OAc)₂ in MeOH (Scheme 41).¹¹⁹ In turn, 2-oxo-2-(thiophen-3-yl)acetaldehydes 110 were oxidized with hydroperoxides 111 in the presence of pyrrolidine to form oxoesters 112 in high yields (Scheme 42).¹²⁰

Scheme 41. Oxidation of 2-hydroxy-1-(thiophen-2-yl)ethanone 108.



Scheme 42. Synthesis of thien-3-ylglyoxylates 112.

1-(Thien-3-yl)ethan-1-one 113 could be used as the starting compound to obtain hetaryl glyoxylates 88 (Scheme 43). Oxidation of acyl derivative 113 proceeded upon the action oxygen in the presence of copper triflate in TFA 125 °C (63% yield)¹²¹ or with potassium O-ethylcarbonodithioate and I₂ in DMSO/H₂O at 80 °C (33% yield).¹²² In addition to that, copper-catalyzed oxidative coupling of 1,3-diketones upon the action of CuBr and oxygen have been also described for the synthesis of glyoxylates.¹²³



Scheme 43. Oxidation of acetyl-3-thiophene 113.

Another synthetic approach includes reactions of isomeric ethynylthiophenes **114** and **115** with alcohols in the presence of CuI and O_2^{124} or AgOTf and PhIO,¹²⁵ which served as a method for the synthesis of both isomeric thienyl glyoxylates of type **86** and **88** in 40-89% yield (Scheme 44). Other related methods involved rearrangements of thienyl acetate-derived arylhydrazones.⁸¹

	ROH, AgOTf, PhIO, 1,2-dichloroethane	õ	R=Et, 89%
s 114, 2-isome	or Cul, O ₂ , 2-picolinic acid, r MeCN, rt, blue LEDs	CO ₂ R	R= <i>i</i> -Pr, 78% R= <i>t</i> -Bu, 40%
115, 3-isome	r	00,00	R-7-Du, 04 /0

Scheme 44. Ethynylthiophenes 114 and 115 in the synthesis of thienyl glyoxylates.

Some methods for the preparation of thienyl glyoxylates relied on the construction of the thiophene ring. Thus, Michael addition of thioamides **117** to allenes **116** with subsequent oxidative annulation and 1,2-migration of the sulfur atom upon TBAI catalysis gave mixtures of glyoxylates **118** or acetates **119**. Variation of the reaction conditions provided a possibility to shift the reaction regioselectivity towards either glyoxylates **118** (*t*-BuOOH, 1,4-dioxane) or acetates **119** (H₂O₂, 1,2-dichloroethane) (Scheme 45).¹²⁶

 $\begin{array}{c} \text{MeO}_2\text{C} \quad \text{CO}_2\text{Me} + \underset{\text{Me}_2\text{N}}{\text{S}_2\text{Ne}} \\ \textbf{116} \quad \textbf{117} \quad \textbf{118}, \textbf{20}-40\% \quad \textbf{119}, \textbf{20}-58\% \\ \textbf{catalyst: } \textit{TBA}\text{/}, \text{NIS}, \text{KI}, \textbf{I}_2\text{; } \textbf{oxidant: } \textbf{H}_2\text{O}_2, \textit{TBHP}, \textit{m}\text{CPBA}, \text{TBPB}, \text{K}_2\text{S}_2\text{O}_8, \\ \textbf{solvent: } \textbf{1,2-dichloroethane, } \textbf{1,4-dioxane, THF, EtOAc, PhMe} \\ \textbf{Scheme 45. Synthesis of glyoxylates } \textbf{118} \textit{via} \text{ Michael addition of thioamides.} \end{array}$

The three-component condensation of tetramethylthiourea **120**, bromopyruvate **43**, and acetylene mono- and dicarboxylates **45** was reported for the preparation of glyoxylates **121** in good to high yields under mild reaction conditions (Scheme 46).¹²⁷ A similar approach was based on the condensation of arylisothiocyanates **122** instead of thioureas, which was used for the synthesis of α -glyoxylates **123** (Scheme 47).¹²⁸



Scheme 46. Synthesis of thien-3-ylglyoxylates 121 *via* the thiophene-forming three-component condensation.

$$\begin{array}{c} R^{1}_{N}C^{S} + Br & CO_{2}Et \\ 122 & 43 \end{array} \xrightarrow{R^{2}O_{2}C} & CO_{2}R^{2} 45 \\ \hline R^{2}O_{2}C & CO_{2}R^{2} \\ \hline R^{2}O_{2}C & CO_{2}R^{2} \\ R^{2}O_{2}C & CO_{2}R^{2} \\ R^{1}=4-MeC_{6}H_{4}, R^{2}=Me, 95\% \\ \hline R^{1}HN & S \\ O 123 \\ R^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, R^{2}=Me, 95\% \\ \hline R^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, R^{2}=Me, 95\% \\ R^{1}HN & S \\ O 123 \\ R^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, R^{2}=He, 95\% \\ \hline R^{1}HN & S \\ O 123 \\ R^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, R^{2}=He, 95\% \\ R^{1}HN & S \\ O 123 \\ R^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, R^{2}=He, 95\% \\ \hline R^{1}HN & S \\ O 123 \\ R^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, R^{2}=He, 95\% \\ R^{1}HN & S \\ O 123 \\ R^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, R^{2}=He, 95\% \\ \hline R^{1}HN & S \\ O 123 \\ R^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, R^{2}=He, 95\% \\ \hline R^{1}HN & S \\ O 123 \\ R^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, R^{2}=He, 95\% \\ \hline R^{1}HN & S \\ O 123 \\ R^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, R^{2}=He, 95\% \\ \hline R^{1}HN & S \\ O 123 \\ R^{1}=4-MeOC_{6}H_{4}, R^{2}=He, 95\% \\ \hline R^{1}HN & S \\ \hline$$

Scheme 47. Synthesis of thien-2-ylglyoxylates 123 by construction of the thiophene ring.

Another application of bromopyruvate in the synthesis of thienyl glyoxylates included condensation with isothiocyanates and 1,3-diketones (or the corresponding enaminones). In particular, acyclic and cyclic enones **124** and **125** reacted with benzoyl isothiocyanates **126** to form tetrasubstituted mono- and bicyclic thien-2-ylglyoxylates **127** and **128**, respectively (Scheme 48).¹²⁹

Dithioester 130 and cyclic thiourea, *e.g.* 2-(methylthio)-4,5-dihydro-1*H*-imidazole 131, reacted with bromopyruvate analog 129 in a similar way, which was demonstrated by the preparation of thiophene 132 (Scheme 49).¹³⁰



Scheme 48. Condensation of enones 124 and 125 with isothiocyanates 126 and bromopyruvate 43.



Scheme 49. Condensation of thiourea 131 with dithioester 130.

Ethyl mercaptopyruvate **133** served as another reagent for the simultaneous introduction of sulfur and carbon atoms, as well as the glyoxylate fragment into the target thiophene ring. In particular, the reaction of compound **133** with 2,3-dibromo-3-trifluoromethylacrylonitrile **134** gave thien-2-ylglyoxylate **135** in 52% yield (Scheme 50).¹³¹

$$HS - CO_{2}Et + F_{3}C - CN + F_{3}O + F_{3}O$$

Scheme 50. Reaction of ethyl mercaptopyruvate 133 with 2,3-dibromoacrylonitrile 134.

Other functionalized nitriles, in particular, 2,3-dichloroacrylonitrile **136**, 3,5-dichloro-4-cyanopyridine-*N*-oxide **137**, 3-chloro-6-phenylpyridazine-4-carbonitrile **138**, and 2-chloro-3-cyanopyrazine **139**, were also suitable for the synthesis of thienyl-2-glyoxylates **140-143** in a similar way starting from **133** (Scheme 51).¹³¹



Scheme 51. Other uses of ethyl mercaptopyruvate 133 in the synthesis of thienyl glyoxylates 140-143.

An interesting approach included the construction of the thiophene ring *via S*-acylation of aminothioacrylamide **144** with ethyloxalyl chloride and further cyclization to give derivative **145** in 52% yield (Scheme 52).¹³²



Scheme 52. S-Acylation of aminothioacrylamide 144 followed by cyclization.

2.4. Indolyl glyoxylates

Most known methods for the preparation of (indol-2-yl)oxoacetates 147 include metalation of C2-unsubstituted or C2-halogenated *N*-substituted indoles 146 followed by acylation with dialkyl oxalates (Table 6).

Table 6. Synthesis of indol-2-ylglyoxylates 147.												
	$\begin{array}{cccc} R^4 & & R^2 \\ R^5 & & N \end{array} \xrightarrow{R^4} & & R^4 & CO_2 R^6 \\ R^5 & & N & O \end{array}$											
					146	R ¹ 147 R ¹						
n.	\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	R ³	R ⁴	R ⁵	Conditions	Yield %	Ref.				
1	Me	Н	Н	Н	Et	1. <i>n</i> -BuLi, Et ₂ O, hexane, reflux, 5 h 2. (CO ₂ Et) ₂ , 0 °C	N.A.	133,134				
2	Me	Η	Η	Н	Me	1. <i>n</i> -BuLi, THF, -78 °C; 2. (CO ₂ Et) ₂ , 0 °C	N.A.	135				
3	Boc	Η	Η	Н	Me	1. <i>t</i> -BuLi, THF, -78 °C; 2. (CO ₂ Me) ₂	71	136				
4	Boc	Н	Н	Н	Me	1. <i>t</i> -BuLi, THF, pentane, -78 °C, 40 min 2. (CO ₂ Me) ₂ , THF, 1 h	66	137				
5	Boc	Н	Н	Н	Et	1. LDA, THF, -78 °C, 1 h; 2. (CO ₂ Et) ₂ , -78 °C to rt, 4 h	67	138				
6	Boc	Me	Н	Н	Me	1. <i>t</i> -BuLi, THF, pentane, -78 °C, 1 h 2. (CO ₂ Me) ₂ , THF, -78 °C to rt, 1 h	21	139				
7						1. LDA, THF, hexane, -78 to 15 °C, 2.5 h 2. (CO ₂ Me) ₂ , THF, -50 °C to rt, 2.5 h	61	140				
8	PhSO ₂	Н	Н	Н	Н	1. MeLi, THF, 0 °C, 1.5 h to rt, 1.5 h 2. (CO ₂ Me) ₂ , 0 °C, 55 min.	45	137				
9						1. <i>t</i> -BuLi, THF, pentane, -65 to 0 °C, 1 h 2. (CO ₂ Me) ₂ , THF, 0 °C, 4 h	34	141				
10	PhSO ₂	Me	Н	Н	Et	1. <i>sec</i> -BuLi, –78 °C to rt; 2. ClC(O)CO ₂ Et, –78 °C to rt	31	142				
11	PhSO ₂	Н	Н	OMe	Me	1. <i>t</i> -BuLi, THF, pentane, -5 °C, 20 min to rt, 20 min 2. (CO ₂ Me) ₂ , THF, rt, 20 min.	54	143				
12	Ts	Н	Η	Н	Et	1. <i>n</i> -BuLi, THF, –78 °C; 2 h. (CO ₂ Et) ₂	58	144				

An important example of the metalation-acylation sequence involved 2,3-diiodoindole **148** that was subjected to the reaction with lithium dineopentylcuprate, and then treated with ethyloxalyl chloride in the presence of 4-dimethylaminopyridine (DMAP) to give the 2-indolyl derivative **149** as the sole product (Scheme 53).¹⁴⁵



Scheme 53. Preparation of indol-2-ylglyoxylate 149 from 2,3-diiodoindole 148.

It is worth noting that the use of Friedel-Crafts acylation is also possible for the preparation of indol-2-yl glyoxylates. Typically, the electrophilic acylation proceeds at the free C3-position; the regioselectivity could be altered for the case of C3-substituted indoles, *e.g.* **150**, for the preparation of **151** (Scheme 54).^{146,147} This method was used for the synthesis of the tetrahydropyridine precursor **152** of N_a -methylsecodine.^{147,148}



The synthesis of 3-aryl-substituted indol-2-ylglyoxylates can be performed by acylation of the corresponding indoles **153** with oxalyl chloride followed by treatment with alcohols, which was illustrated by the synthesis of compound **154** (Scheme 55).¹⁴⁹⁻¹⁵² In the case of the presence of two methoxyl groups in the benzene ring of indole , acylation can take place in the C7-position.¹⁵³



Scheme 55. Synthesis of 3-phenylindol-2-ylglyoxylate 154.

On the contrary, synthesis of isomeric 2-(1H-indol-3-yl)-2-oxoacetates typically relied on the straightforward electrophilic acylation at the C3-position.¹⁵⁴⁻¹⁷¹ Thus, unsubstituted indole **155** could be acylated with oxalyl chloride; further treatment with MeONa finalized the synthesis of glyoxylate **156** (Scheme 56). The yield of the product could be improved by varying the reaction temperature.¹⁶⁰⁻¹⁶³ The scope of other electrophilic acylations of C3-unsubstituted indoles **157** for the synthesis of glyoxylates of the general formula **158** is summarized in Table 7.



 Table 7. Synthesis of indol-3-ylglyoxylates 158.

					R ⁴ R ⁵	$ \begin{array}{c} $	condit	$\xrightarrow{ions} R^4 \xrightarrow{R^3 O CO_2 R^7} \\ \xrightarrow{R^5 R^5 R^1 R^1 158}$		
n.	\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	R ³	R ⁴	R ⁵	R ⁶	\mathbb{R}^7	Conditions	Yield %	Ref.
1	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Et	ClC(O)CO ₂ Et, pyridine, Et ₂ O, 0 °C, 2 h	81	162
2	Η	Η	Η	Η	Η	Н	Et	ClC(O)CO ₂ Et, pyridine, Et ₂ O,	74	162
3	Η	Η	Η	Cl	Η	Н	Et	0 °C, 1 h to rt, 5 h	49	105
4	Η	Н	Н	Η	Η	Н	Me	ClC(O)CO ₂ Et, pyridine, Et ₂ O,	62	164,165

								5 °C, 1.5 h		
5	Η	Η	Η	Η	Η	Br	Me		70	
6	Η	Η	Η	Η	Η	OBn	Me	ClC(O)CO ₂ Et, THF, pyridine,	77	166
7	Η	Η	Η	Η	Η	OCHPh ₂	Me	reflux, 48 h	78	100
8	Η	Η	Η	Η	Η	NHCO ₂ Bn	Me		55	
9	ц	и	ц	ц	ц	ц	E+	1. Et ₂ AlCl, hexane, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 0 °C, 30 min	72	167
10	11	11	11	11	11	11	Εt	2. ClC(O)CO ₂ Me, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , 0 °C, 3 h	55	168
11	Η	Η	Η	Η	Η	Н	Me	1 Et AICI havana CII CI	66	
12	Η	Η	Η	F	Η	Н	Me/Et	1. El2AICI, llexalle, CH_2Cl_2 ,	N.A.	160 170
13	Η	Η	Η	Η	F	Н	Me/Et	0° C, 30° IIIII	50 (Et)	109,170
14	Η	Η	Η	Η	OMe	Н	Me/Et	$2. CIC(0)CO_2 vie, 0, C, 2 I$	N.A.	
15	Н	Н	Н	Η	Н	Н	Et	PhNHCH ₂ CO ₂ Et, CuCl ₂ , O ₂ (air), <i>t</i> -BuOOH, CH ₂ Cl ₂ , H ₂ O, rt, 24 h	60	171
16	Н	Н	Н	Η	Н	Н	Et	PhNHCH ₂ CO ₂ Et, Fe(OTf) ₃ , <i>t</i> -BuOOH, pivalic acid, 50 °C, 15 h	54	172
17		М						1 (COCl) ₂ Et ₂ O 0.°C	85	156
18	Η	e	Н	Н	Н	Н	Me	2. MeOH. Et ₂ O	80	173
19		-						,,, _,, _	60	156

Notably, only a few examples of the synthesis of indolyl glyoxylates via the construction of the indole fragment have been disclosed in the literature, being limited by cyclizations of 2-oxo-3-arylbut-3-enoates.^{174,175} For example, it was possible to synthesize indole-2-yl glyoxylates **147a** by palladium-catalyzed intramolecular amination-cyclization of *N*-protected α -aminocinnamic ester **159** (87% yield) (Scheme 57).¹⁷⁶



Scheme 57. Cyclization of *N*-Cbz-α-aminocinnamic ester 159.

Aza-substituted indolyl glyoxylates 161 were synthesized by the Friedel-Crafts acylation of the simplest isomeric azaindoles $160^{177-179}$ and their substituted derivatives (Table 8).¹⁸⁰

Table 8. Acylation of compounds 160 for the synthesis of azaindol-3-ylglyoxylates 161.

			X ' Y⊳	A Z 160	À À	$\frac{CIC(O)CO_2R}{AICI_3, CH_2CI_2} X$	0 CO Z N 161	₂ R
n.	А	Х	Y	Ζ	R	Temperature	Yield %	Ref
1	N	п	п	п	Me	rt	42	177
2	IN	п	п	п	Et	0 °C	50	178
3	ц	N	ц	ц	Me	rt	70	177
4	п	IN	п	п	Et	0 °C	45	178
5	п	п	N	п	Me	rt	42	177
6	п	п	IN	п	Et	0 °C	42	178

551

Acylation of (1,2,4-triazol-1-yl)-pyrrolo[2,3-*c*]pyridine **162** (and related derivatives) requires the initial treatment with the Grignard reagent (*e.g.* EtMgBr) and subsequent reaction with ethyloxalyl chloride to give glyoxylate **163** (Scheme 58).¹⁸³⁻¹⁸⁶ Other protocols involved the use of other Grignard reagents (*e.g. i*-PrMgCl)¹⁸⁷ or Lewis acid (*e.g.* AlCl₃)¹⁸⁸ to promote the formation of compound **163**, however, in a lower yield (23%).¹⁸⁵



Scheme 58. Acylation of (1,2,4-triazol-1-yl)-pyrrolo[2,3-c]pyridine 162.

2.5. Benzofuryl and benzothienyl glyoxylates

Claisen-type acylation of benzofuran-3(2H)-ones **164** with dimethyl oxalate was used to synthesize benzofuryl glyoxylates **165** in 25% yield (Scheme 59).¹⁸⁹ Similar transformations were described for the methyl-substituted derivative (73% yield)¹⁹⁰ and the dimethylated homolog (50% yield).¹⁹¹



Scheme 59. Acylation of benzofuran-3(2H)-ones 164.

An alternative approach to 2-(benzofuran-2-yl)-2-oxoacetates involves oxidation of α -bromoketone **166** with selenium dioxide, giving derivative **167** in 14% yield (Scheme 60).¹⁹² At the same time, oxidation of the methylene unit in 2-(benzofuran-3-yl)acetate **168** provided C3-glyoxylate **169** in high yield of 95% (Scheme 61).¹⁹³

Scheme 60. Synthesis of (benzofuran-2-yl)oxoacetate 167 by oxidation of bromoketone 166.



Scheme 61. Synthesis of (benzofuran-3-yl)oxoacetate 169 by oxidation of acetate 168.

Limited examples of the synthesis of benzothiophene-2-ylglyoxylates include metalation of benzothiophene **170** followed by treatment with ethyl oxalate, which was used for the synthesis of derivative **171** (Scheme 62).^{80,194}

In a similar way, metalation-acylation of benzo[1,2-*b*:4,3-*b*']dithiophene **172** results in the formation of mono- and bisglyoxylate **173** and **174** in 65% and 10% yields, respectively (Scheme 63).¹⁹⁵



Scheme 62. Synthesis of ethyl 2-(benzo[b]thiophen-2-yl)-2-oxoacetate 171.



Scheme 63. Synthesis of benzo[1,2-b:4,3-b']dithiophenyl glyoxylates 173 and 174.

Electrophilic acylation of C3-unsubstituted benzo[b]thiophenes **175** is possible,^{78,80,196} as shown by the synthesis of 2-methyl (92% and 97% yields)¹⁹⁷ and 2-*n*-pentyl derivatives **176** (80% yield)¹⁹⁷ (Scheme 64).



3. Chemical transformations of pyrrolyl, furyl, thienyl glyoxylates and their fused analogs

The glyoxylate fragment is tolerant to a certain range of reaction conditions. It remains intact in formylations,³⁰ halogenation of alkyl side chains⁵¹ and the heterocyclic core,³⁰ additions to C=C double bonds,³⁰ oxidation of (halo-)alkyl groups,¹⁹⁸ nucleophilic substitutions at the haloalkyl moieties,⁵¹ acid-mediated cleavage of *N*-carbamate²⁸ or *O*-THP³⁰ protecting groups, the addition of the pyrrole nitrogen atom to the triple bond of acetylene dicarboxylate,¹⁹⁹ the Stille coupling²⁸ etc. Thus, *O*-triflylation of 3-hydroxypyrrole **32** was used for the preparation of precursor **177** for the Suzuki coupling with arylboronic acid. All steps proceeded with the retention of glyoxylate fragment, and the derivative **178** was obtained in high yield (Scheme 65).^{48,49}



Scheme 65. Synthesis of pyrrole-derived triflate 177 bearing additional glyoxylate fragment and its Suzuki cross-coupling.

The range of possible synthetic transformations of hetaryl glyoxylates as ketones, esters, or ketoesters is summarized in Figure 1. Below, only selected known examples of the most common and representative reactions involving the discussed subcategory of hetaryl glyoxylates are disclosed.

3.1. Reduction reactions

Selective catalytic hydrogenation of pyrrole-2-ylglyoxylate **10a** in the presence of Pt on Al_2O_3 in ethanol served as a method for the synthesis of (pyrrole-2-yl)hydroxyacetate **179** in excellent yield (Scheme 66). Other methods for the synthesis of hydroxyesters include the use of borohydride reducing agents, which was applied for glyoxylates **180** (for the synthesis of compounds **181** using NaBH₄³⁰) and **182** (for the preparation of **183** upon the action of NaBH₃CN²⁰⁰) (Scheme 67).

Catalytic hydrogenation of **10** under pressure (10 atm) in the presence of a more active catalyst, *i.e.* Rh on Al₂O₃, was accompanied by the reduction of the heterocyclic fragment, and ended up with the formation of 2-hydroxy-2-(pyrrolidin-2-yl)acetates **184** (Table 9). A similar trend was observed for the indolizine

derivatives 10 and 20 that were selectively reduced to 2-hydroxy-2-(octahydroindolizin-3-yl)acetates 185 and 186 (Scheme 68).²⁸



Scheme 66. Hydrogenation of pyrrole-2-ylglyoxylate to hydroxyacetate 179.



Scheme 67. Reduction of (pyrrol-2-yl)glyoxylates 180 and 182 with borohydride reducing agents.

Table 9. Synthesis of 2-hydroxy-2-(pyrrolidin-2-yl)acetates 184.												
				H ₂ (10 a	atm), Rh/.	Al ₂ O ₃						
	R ² 1	[⋌] ╷∕∽ 0 _R 1	 CO₂R	,5 ROH, rt, 24 h			R ² ∕ N ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕ ∕					
	n.	\mathbb{R}^1	\mathbb{R}^2	R ³	R ⁴	R ⁵	dr ^a	Yield %]			
	1	Me	Η	Η	Η	Et	1:1	93				
	2	Me	Η	Η	OMe	Et	>20:1	91				
	3	Me	Me	OMe	Η	Et	>20:1	90	1			
	4	Η	Me	OMe	Н	Me	3:1	90				
	5	Boc	Me	OMe	Н	Me	2:1	95	1			
	6	Me	Η	Н	vinyl ^b	Me	>20:1	92	1			
	7	Me	Н	vinyl ^b	H	Et	>20:1	92]			

^aRatio of diastereomers that differ by the relative configuration at the OH group. ^bReduction of the vinyl fragment to the ethyl group was observed.



Scheme 68. Synthesis of 2-hydroxy-2-(octahydroindolizin-3-yl)acetates 185 and 186.

Reduction of indolyl glyoxylates **147** to the corresponding hydroxyesters **187** is possible by using either NaBH₄¹⁴⁹ or catalytic hydrogenation in the presence of PtO_2^{135} (Scheme 69). It is worth noting that reduction of the carbonyl group with Zn/HOAc, H₂/Pd-C/HOAc, NaBH₃CN/HOAc/MeOH, BH₃ THF, or H₂/Pd-C/HCl/EtOH was inefficient.



Scheme 69. Synthesis of 2-hydroxy-2-(1H-indol-2-yl)acetates 187

On the other hand, it was possible to completely remove the ketone fragment of hetaryl glyoxylates for the synthesis of hetaryl acetates.^{48,49} For example, the use hydrogen sulfide in the presence of imidazole turned out to be a mild, chemo- and regioselective method for the reduction of **188** (derived from **36**) into the derivative **189** in 63% yield (Scheme 70).⁵¹ Another example is the use of NaBH₃CN and ZnI₂ for the synthesis of acetate **190** from **10b**.³⁵ An example of the Wolff-Kizhner reduction of the carbonyl group of **178** was described, which was accompanied by the formation of corresponding hydrazide to give product **191** (Scheme 71).²¹



Scheme 70. Synthesis of 2-hydroxy-2-(1H-indol-2-yl)acetates 189 and 190.



Scheme 71. The Wolff-Kishner reduction of pyrrolyl glyoxylate 178.

The Wolff-Kishner reduction of the ketone fragment of thienyl glyoxylates **83** and **87** with subsequent hydrolysis for the synthesis of compounds **192** and **193**, respectively, has been described (Scheme 72).^{88,201}



Other examples include reduction of thienyl glyoxylates **194** with triethylsilane in TFA to give a mixture of hydroxyacetate **195** and dehydroxylated derivative **196** as the major product (Scheme 73).⁸⁴ Complete reduction of the carbonyl group with triethylsilane is also known for the benzo analogue **176** (64% yield of product **197**) (Scheme 74).¹⁹⁷ A similar transformation was described for the corresponding ethyl ester.²⁰²



Scheme 73. Reduction of thien-3-ylglyoxylate 194 with formation of compounds 195 and 196.



Scheme 74. Reduction of 2-(benzo[b]thiophen-3-yl)-2-oxoacetate 176.

The ketoester fragment can be also fully reduced to hydroxyethyl moiety with sodium borohydride under harsh conditions, *i.e.* prolonged reflux in isopropanol (Scheme 75).²⁷ Compound **199** was obtained in 22% yield from the corresponding *n*-octyl glyoxylate **198**.



Scheme 75. Synthesis of 2-(1H-pyrrol-2-yl)ethan-1-ol 199.

3.2. Reactions with heteroatom nucleophiles

The most straightforward transformation of hetaryl glyoxylates is hydrolysis into the corresponding glyoxylic acids, which can be performed with NaOH in THF, 38,39 KOH 59 or K₂CO₃³⁰ in MeOH-H₂O.

Oxime formation is a typical reaction of hetaryl glyoxylates which can be performed with hydroxylamine hydrochloride and pyridine upon reflux in EtOH. For example, glyoxylate **10c** could be converted into oxime **200** in 76% yield (Scheme 76).²⁴ Oxime formation was also described for the indoles **147c** with the representative synthesis of compounds **201** (Scheme 77).¹⁵⁰



Scheme 76. Synthesis of 2-(hydroxyimino)-2-(1H-pyrrol-2-yl)acetate 200.



Scheme 77. Transformation of indol-2-ylglyoxylates 147c into corresponding oximes 201.

The scope of other related transformations includes the formation of oxime **202** as a 4:1 mixture of E/Z isomers,²⁰³ as well as imination of glyoxylate with TMS₂NMe and TfOH to give **203** in 68% yield, which could be reduced into the corresponding aminoester (Scheme 78).²⁰⁴ Formation of *N*-(2-amino-2-oxo-1-(thiophen-3-ylethyl)thiophene-3-carboxamide **204** was observed when the amination of thienyl glyoxylate **88e** was performed with ammonia in alcohol (Scheme 79).²⁰⁵ gem-Difluorination of the discussed hetaryl glyoxylates can be performed in a straightforward manner with standard deoxofluorinating agents like DAST, which can be illustrated by deoxofluorination of dibenzo[*b*,*d*]furyl bis-glyoxylate **205**²⁰⁶ for the preparation of the corresponding α,α -difluoroacetate **206** (Scheme 80).

Scheme 78. Synthesis of oxime 202 and imine 203 from thien-3-ylglyoxylates.

Ö		00	$_{>}NH_{2}$
	t_NH₃ (21 equiv.)		~ 1
S 88b	MeOH, 60 °C, 6 h	< <u>s</u> ∐ H	L 204

Scheme 79. Synthesis of N-(2-amino-2-oxo-1-(thiophen-3-ylethyl)thiophene-3-carboxamide 204.



Scheme 80. Synthesis of hetaryl α,α-difluoroacetate 206 from glyoxylate 205.

3.3. Reactions with C-nucleophiles

Hetaryl glyoxylates of the discussed series are capable of the classical cyanohydrin synthesis. In particular, the asymmetric synthesis of TMS-protected cyanohydrin **208** from furan-3-yl glyoxylate **207**²⁰⁷ was described (Scheme 81).



Scheme 81. Asymmetric synthesis of methyl-2-cyano-2-(furan-3-yl)-2-((trimethylsilyl)oxy)acetate 208.

Other examples of the chemoselective carbonyl group reactivity include the nucleophilic additions of Grignard reagents. Ethyl magnesium chloride reacts with fused pyrrole-2-ylglyoxylate **10d** to form hydroxy ester **209** (Scheme 82).^{28,150,152} Using of arylmagnesium bromides is also known in the literature.²⁰⁸



Scheme 82. Reaction of pyrrole-2-glyoxylate 10 with Grignard reagent.

In situ generation of the Grignard reagent from functionalized halides, *e.g.* allyl-3-bromomethylpiperidine **210**, was possible. The corresponding organometallic intermediate reacted with indolyl glyoxylate **147d** for the synthesis of adduct **211** (Scheme 83).¹⁴¹



Scheme 83. Reaction of indole-2-glyoxylate 147d with Grignard reagent obtained from 210.

An interesting transformation is the rhodium-catalyzed enantioselective 1,2-addition of arylboronic acids to the carbonyl group of hetaryl glyoxylates **158a** for the synthesis of α -hydroxyesters **212** (Scheme 84).²⁰⁹ Optimization of the reaction conditions was carried out for the case of *p*-methoxyphenylboronic acid as the nucleophilic agent.



Scheme 84. Enantioselective 1,2-addition of arylboronic acids for the preparation of 212.

An example of Knoevenagel condensation at the carbonyl group⁴² includes the reaction of pyrrol-2-yl glyoxylate **10e** with indolin-2-one **213**, which led to derivative **214** (Scheme 85).²¹⁰



Scheme 85. Condensation of pyrrole-2-ylglyoxylate 10e with indolin-2-one 213.

Wittig olefination of the discussed hetaryl glyoxylates also proceeds selectively at the ketone moiety. For example, pyrrolyl-²⁹ and *N*-Boc-indolyl-glyoxylates¹³⁷ **10a** and **147e**, respectively, reacted with the ylide generated from triphenylmethylphosphonium bromide *via* deprotonation with *n*-BuLi. This reaction led to 2-(azol-2-yl)acrylates **215** and **216** in 20% and 53% yield, respectively (Scheme 86). A similar transformation was described for compound **115**,^{147,148} as well as for *N*-PhSO₂¹³⁷ and *N*-tosylindoles,¹⁴⁴ which proceeded in 45%, 41%, and 56% yield, respectively.



Scheme 86. Wittig olefination of glyoxylates for the synthesis of 2-(azol-2-yl)acrylates 215 and 216.

Pyrrol-2-yl glyoxylate **8** can undergo olefination with substituted ylides **217** under reflux in xylene or toluene to form compounds **218** and **219** as mixtures of *Z*- and *E*-isomers. Further alkaline hydrolysis of diester **218** was applied for the synthesis of 2-(1*H*-pyrrol-2-yl)maleic acid **220** in 76% yield (Scheme 87).¹³⁶ Another example of Wittig olefination involves diphenyl(4-pyridylmethyl)phosphine oxide **221** in reactions with glyoxylates **147f** to give derivatives **222** (Scheme 88).¹⁴³ Allylic and benzylic phosphonium ylides have been also introduced in such transformations.



Scheme 87. Alkynylation of pyrrole-2-ylglyoxylate 8 with substituted phosphonium ylides 217.



An interesting example includes Corey-Chaikowsky-type epoxidation of indol-2-yl glyoxylate **147f** with chiral sulfonium salt **223** used for the synthesis of compound **224** (Scheme 89).²¹¹



Scheme 89. Corey-Chaikowsky-type epoxidation of indol-2-ylglyoxylate 147f with reagent 223.

3.4. Heterocyclizations

As mentioned above, heterocyclizations of hetaryl glyoxylates are of particular interest since they provide important bis-heterocyclic scaffolds widely used in synthetic and medicinal chemistry. Hetaryl glyoxylates are commonly used as the 1,2-*CC*-bis-electrophiles in these reactions. For example, indol-2-yl derivative **147h** reacted with *o*-phenylenediamine **225** via CC+NCCN cyclization to give quinoxalin-2(1*H*)-one **226** in 60% yield (Scheme 90).¹³⁹



Scheme 90. Synthesis of 3-(3-methyl-1H-indol-2-yl)quinoxalin-2(1H)-one 226.

A related transformation included the synthesis of 7-methoxy-3-(2-thienyl)quinoxalin-2-one **228** based on the condensation of the Schiff base **227** (formed in the first step from the glyoxylate and 4-chloroaniline) with 4-methoxybenzene-1,2-diamine (Scheme 91).²¹² The formation of 7-methoxy-regioisomer **229** as a minor by-product was also observed.



Scheme 91. Synthesis of quinoxalin-2-one 228.

An example of CC+CCN cyclization was provided by the preparation of diarylmaleimide **231** by condensation of indolyl glyoxylate **147i** and 2-arylacetamide **230** in the presence of *t*-BuOK and molecular sieves (54% yield, Scheme 92).²¹³



Scheme 92. Synthesis of arylindolylmaleimide 231.

Also, CC+NCN heterocyclization of thien-3-yl glyoxylate **88b** with sulfuric diamide $[SO_2(NH_2)_2]$ was used to obtain (thien-3-yl)-1,2,5-thiadiazole **232** (Scheme 93).²¹⁴⁻²¹⁶

Scheme 93. Synthesis of sodium 4-(thiophen-3-yl)-1,2,5-thiadiaz-3-olate-1,1-dioxide 232.

Many examples of heterocyclizations with hydrazines have been described, where one or two additional atoms were introduced from either a third reaction component or other parts of the reacting molecules. In particular, the synthesis of 2,5-dihydro-4*H*-pyrazolo[3,4-*c*]quinolin-4-ones **233** included

recyclization of indol-3-yl glyoxylate **158b**, which occurred upon treatment with hydrazines (NH₂NH₂·HCl¹⁶³ or BuNHNH₂·HCl¹⁶²) (Scheme 94).



Scheme 94. Synthesis of 2,5-dihydro-4H-pyrazolo[3,4-c]quinolin-4-ones 233.

Reaction of thienyl glyoxylates **86b** with hydrazines proceeded through the selective formation of hydrazones **234** (acyl hydrazide **235** was not observed). Attempted heterocyclizations of compounds **234** with diethylmalonate was not effective for obtaining 5-hydroxy-3-oxo-6-(thiophenyl)-2,3-dihydropyridazines **236**. Nevertheless, the synthesis of heterocycles **236** was possible by the reaction of hydrazones **234** with ethyl-3-chloro-3-oxopropanoate due to the formation of intermediate acylhydrazones **237** (Table 10).²¹⁶⁻²¹⁹





Another example involving the discussed hetaryl glyoxylate for the synthesis of pyridazine derivatives involved a four-step reaction sequence to obtain fused pyridazinones **246** and **247** (Scheme 95).⁶⁵ In this case, glyoxylates **71** and **97** acted as 1,4-CCCC-bis-electrophiles due to the presence of an additional ester group. The synthetic scheme included: a) alkaline hydrolysis to give **238** and **239**; b) selective monoesterification of glyoxylic acid moiety for the preparation of **240** and **241**; c) reactions with aryl hydrazines resulted in formation of **242** and **243**; d) treatment with SOCl₂, which resulted in pyridazinones **246** and **247** *via* formation of acid chlorides **244** and **245**.



Scheme 95. Synthesis of fused pyridazinones 246 and 247.

The heterocyclization of 2-hydrazinyl-3-(1*H*-pyrrol-1-yl)pyridine **248** with thien-3-yl glyoxylate **88b** was developed for the synthesis of 2,3-dihydro[1,2,4]triazolo[4,3-*a*]pyridine **249** (Scheme 96).²¹⁸ In this case, 2-hydrazinylpyridine served as the NCNN binucleophile, while the glyoxylate reacted only at the more active ketone carbonyl group.



Scheme 96. Synthesis of 2,3-dihydro-1,2,4-triazolo[4,3-a]pyridine 249.

The interaction of pyrrol-2-yl glyoxylates **10f** with α , β -unsaturated ketones **250** proceeded as an NCC+CC cyclization including aza-Michael and aldol reactions in the presence of a quinine-derived catalyst **251**, and serves as a method for obtaining chiral pyrrolizines **252** (Scheme 97).²¹⁹ In this case, the pyrrole nitrogen atom and the ketone carbonyl group of the glyoxylate participated in the heterocyclization.



Scheme 97. Asymmetric synthesis of pyrrolizines 252 by cascade aza-Michael and aldol reactions.

The Diels-Alder reaction of glyoxylate **253** with dimethyl acetylene dicarboxylate **45** in the presence of triphenylphosphine provided the formation of tetracyclic compound **254** (Scheme 98).⁵⁹ In this case, glyoxylate **253** acted as a hetero-diene.

A number of examples included various intramolecular heterocyclizations where all atoms of the formed heterocycle originated from hetaryl glyoxylate. For example, intramolecular condensation at the diarylmethane fragment present in the molecule of pyrrole derivative 10g gave fused tricyclic product 255 (Scheme 99).³⁴



Scheme 98. The Diels-Alder reaction of glyoxylate 253.



Scheme 99. Intramolecular condensation of 2-(1-(2-benzylphenyl)-1H-pyrrol-2-yl)-2-oxoacetate 255.

Intramolecular Wittig reaction of pyrrol-2-yl glyoxylate **256** was disclosed in the literature for the preparation of fused derivative **257** (Scheme 100).¹⁹⁹



Scheme 100. The intramolecular Wittig reaction of glyoxylate 256.

Intramolecular cyclization of 2-(3-(azidomethyl)-1H-indol-2-yl)-2-oxoacetate**257**via the Staudinger-aza-Wittig reaction sequence was used as a method for the annulation of the pyrrole fragment and led to derivative**258**with a yield of 94% (Scheme 101). A related example included the intramolecular reductive cyclization of ethyl 2-(1-((2-nitrophenyl)sulfonyl)-1H-pyrrol-2-yl)-2-oxoacetate**259**. The process involved reduction of the nitro group followed by reductive amination at the ketone moiety with the formation of tricyclic azasultam**260**in an excellent yield (Scheme 102).²⁰⁰



Scheme 101. Synthesis of 2,4-dihydropyrrolo[3,4-b]indole-3-carboxylate 258.



Scheme 102. Synthesis of benzo[f]pyrrolo[1,2-b][1,2,5]thiadiazepine-11-carboxylate-5,5-dioxide 260.

One more related example relied on the acid-promoted recyclization of diarylaziridine carboxylate **261** to give pyrroloimidazole derivative **262** (Scheme 103).²²⁰



Scheme 103. Synthesis of 1-ethyl-3-methyl-5H-pyrrolo[1,2-c]imidazole-1,3-dicarboxylate 262.

4. Conclusions

Heterocyclic α -oxoesters, also known as heterocyclic α -ketoesters, hetaryl-2-oxoacetates, or hetaryl glyoxylates, are important polyfunctional substrates for synthetic and medicinal chemistry;²²¹ their representation in the literature depends significantly on the nature of the heterocyclic substituent. Thus, the synthesis of the simplest five-membered hetaryl glyoxylates has been well-documented. The preparation of pyrrolyl, furyl, and thienyl glyoxylates typically relies on the straightforward and (in most cases) regioselective electrophilic Friedel-Crafts acylation of the corresponding C2-unsubstituted heterocycles with oxalic acid derivatives (the presence of Lewis acids is required only for thiophenes). In the case of 2,5-disubstituted derivatives, the electrophilic reactions take place at the β -position. The metalation-glyoxylation sequence has been widely used for the selective preparation of monocyclic azol-3-yl glyoxylates. On the contrary, the corresponding C2-substituted benzo-fused glyoxylates were typically obtained *via* the metalation, whereas the C3-isomers *via* electrophilic acylation.

Typically, the chemical behavior of hetaryl glyoxylates corresponds to their electronic properties of highly electrophilic ketones. In other words, selective reactions at the ketone moiety are prevalent, *e.g.* reduction, formation of oximes, imines, and hydrazones, organometallic reagent addition, various condensations, olefination, or deoxofluorination. Selective reactions at the ester group are less common and are represented by hydrolysis and amide formation. Many reactions occur at both functional groups and may even involve atoms of the heterocyclic ring or side chains present. In this view, heterocyclizations with hetaryl glyoxylates are especially interesting, particularly when the title compounds act as the 1,2-*CC*-bis-electrophiles. In this role, the hetaryl glyoxylates were used to obtain derivatives of pyrazine, quinoxaline, benzo[*b*][1,4]oxazine, and other heterocycles. Of different reactivity types, heterocyclizations of the title compounds bearing an additional ester moiety (1,4-CCCC-bis-electrophiles) can be outlined, *e.g.* for the synthesis of functionalized pyridazines.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Enamine Ltd. and Ministry of Education and Science of Ukraine (Grants No. 0121U100387 (21BF037-01M) and 0122U001962 (22BF037-02)). The authors thank Prof. Andrey A. Tolmachev for his encouragement and support, and all the brave defenders of Ukraine for making finalizing this publication possible.

References

- 1. Cusumano, A. Q.; Boudreau, M. W.; Pierce, J. G. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 82, 13714-13721.
- 2. Ashton, T. D.; Jolliffe, K. A.; Pfeffer, F. M. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2015, 44, 4547-4595.
- 3. Wang, L.; Huang, J.; Peng, S.; Liu, H.; Jiang, X.; Wang, J. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 1768-1772.
- Chen, C.-T.; Wei, Y.; Lin, J.-S.; Moturu, M. V. R. K.; Chao, W.-S.; Tao, Y.-T.; Chien, C.-H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 10992-10993.
- 5. Sessler, J. L.; Cho, D.-G.; Lynch, V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 16518-16519.
- Wexberg, P.; Jordanova, N.; Strehblow, C.; Syeda, B.; Meyer, B.; Charvat, S.; Zorn, G.; Scheinig, D.; Wojta, J.; Huber, K.; Glogar, D.; Gyöngyösi, M. *Thromb. Haemost.* 2008, 99, 739-748.
- 7. Lin, H.; Xu, L.; Yu, S.; Hong, W.; Huang, M.; Xu, P. Exp. Mol. Med. 2020, 52, 367-379.
- Jacobsen, J. S.; Comery, T. A.; Martone, R. L.; Elokdah, H.; Crandall, D. L.; Oganesian, A.; Aschmies, S.; Kirksey, Y.; Gonzales, C.; Xu, J.; Zhou, H.; Atchison, K.; Wagner, E.; Zaleska, M. M.; Das, I.; Arias, R. L.; Bard, J.; Riddell, D.; Gardell, S. J.; Abou-Gharbia, M.; Robichaud, A.; Magolda, R.; Vlasuk, G. P.; Bjornsson, T.; Reinhart, P. H.; Pangalos, M. N. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 2008, 105, 8754-8759.
- 9. Lavelle, F. Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs 1999, 8, 903-909.
- 10. Wienecke, A.; Bacher, G. Cancer Res. 2009, 69, 171-177.
- 11. Saeedian Moghadam, E.; Saravani, F.; Ostad, S.; Tavajohi, S.; Pirali Hamedani, M.; Amini, M. *Heterocycl. Commun.* 2018, 24, 211-217.
- 12. Kapoor, S.; Srivastava, S.; Panda, D. Sci. Rep. 2018, 8, 2-13.
- 13. Colley, H. E.; Muthana, M.; Danson, S. J.; Jackson, L. V.; Brett, M. L.; Harrison, J.; Coole, S. F.;

- 14. Lewin, M.; Samuel, S.; Merkel, J.; Bickler, P. Toxins 2016, 8, 248.
- Salvador, G. H. M.; Gomes, A. A. S.; Bryan-Quirós, W.; Fernández, J.; Lewin, M. R.; Gutiérrez, J. M.; Lomonte, B.; Fontes, M. R. M. Sci. Rep. 2019, 9, 1-13.
- Pietzner, M.; Wheeler, E.; Carrasco-Zanini, J.; Raffler, J.; Kerrison, N. D.; Oerton, E.; Auyeung, V. P. W.; Luan, J.; Finan, C.; Casas, J. P.; Ostroff, R.; Williams, S. A.; Kastenmüller, G.; Ralser, M.; Gamazon, E. R.; Wareham, N. J.; Hingorani, A. D.; Langenberg, C. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 6397.
- 17. Li, Q.; Wang, Z.; Zheng, Q.; Liu, S. Comput. Struct. Biotechnol. J. 2020, 18, 2200-2208.
- La Pietra, V.; La Regina, G.; Coluccia, A.; Famiglini, V.; Pelliccia, S.; Plotkin, B.; Eldar-Finkelman, H.; Brancale, A.; Ballatore, C.; Crowe, A.; Brunden, K. R.; Marinelli, L.; Novellino, E.; Silvestri, R. J. Med. Chem. 2013, 56, 10066-10078.
- 19. Laufer, S.; Striegel, H.-G.; Neher, K.; Zechmeister, P.; Donat, C.; Stolingwa, K.; Baur, S.; Tries, S.; Kammermeier, T.; Dannhardt, G.; Kiefer, W. Arch. Pharm. **1997**, *330*, 307-312.
- 20. Sugawa, T.; Sanno, Y.; Kurita, A. Yakugaku Zasshi 1955, 75, 856-860.
- 21. Dannhardt, G.; Kiefer, W. Arch. Pharm. 1994, 327, 509-514.
- 22. Treibs, A.; Kreuzer, F. Lieb. Ann. Chem. 1969, 721, 105-115.
- 23. Despinoy, X. L. M.; Mcnab, H. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2009, 7, 2187-2194.
- 24. Gilchrist, T. L.; Lemos, A.; Ottaway, C. J. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1997, 3005-3012.
- 25. Birchall, G. R.; Rees, A. H. Can. J. Chem. 1971, 49, 919-922.
- 26. Dannhardt, G.; Steindl, L. Arch. Pharm. 1986, 319, 500-505.
- 27. Greenhouse, R.; Ramirez, C.; Muchowski, J. M. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 2961-2965.
- 28. Jiang, C.; Frontier, A. J. Org. Lett. 2007, 9, 4939-4942.
- 29. Ji, X.; Wei, F.; Wan, B.; Cheng, C.; Zhang, Y. Chem. Commun. 2020, 56, 7801-7804.
- Carpio, H.; Galeazzi, E.; Greenhouse, R.; Guzmán, A.; Velarde, E.; Antonio, Y.; Franco, F.; Leon, A.; Pérez, V.; Salas, R.; Valdés, D.; Ackrell, J.; Cho, D.; Gallegra, P.; Halpern, O.; Koehler, R.; Maddox, M. L.; Muchowski, J. M.; Prince, A.; Tegg, D.; Thurber, T. C.; Van Horn, A. R.; Wren, D. *Can. J. Chem.* 1982, 60, 2295-2312.
- Harrison, C.-A. A.; Jackson, P. M.; Moody, C. J.; Williams, J. M. J. J. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1995, 1131-1136.
- Bray, B. L.; Mathies, P. H.; Naef, R.; Solas, D. R.; Tidwell, T. T.; Artis, D. R.; Muchowski, J. M. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 6317-6328.
- 33. Franck, R. W.; Bernady, K. F. J. Org. Chem. 1968, 33, 3050-3055.
- Cappelli, A.; Giuliani, G.; Anzini, M.; Riitano, D.; Giorgi, G.; Vomero, S. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2008, 16, 6850-6859.
- Sum, F.-W.; Dusza, J.; Santos, E. D.; Grosu, G.; Reich, M.; Du, X.; Albright, J. D.; Chan, P.; Coupet, J.; Ru, X.; Mazandarani, H.; Saunders, T. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2003, *13*, 2195-2198.
- 36. Harrak, Y.; Rosell, G.; Daidone, G.; Plescia, S.; Schillaci, D.; Pujol, M. D. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2007, 15, 4876-4890.
- 37. Müller, C. M.; Montforts, F.-P. J. Porphyr. Phthalocyanines 2014, 18, 424-432.
- 38. Salzameda, N. T.; Huggins, M. T.; Lightner, D. A. Tetrahedron 2006, 62, 8610-8619.
- 39. Salzameda, N. T.; Lightner, D. A. Monatsh. Chemie 2006, 137, 1453-1462.
- 40. Demopoulos, B. J.; Anderson, H. J.; Loader, C. E.; Faber, K. Can. J. Chem. 1983, 61, 2415-2422.
- Karmakar, A.; Ramalingam, S.; Basha, M.; Indasi, G. K.; Belema, M.; Meanwell, N. A.; Dhar, T. G. M.; Rampulla, R.; Mathur, A.; Gupta, A.; Gupta, A. K. *Synthesis* **2020**, *52*, 441-449.
- 42. Dick, J. W.; Gibson, W. K.; Leaver, D.; Roff, J. E. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1981, 3150-3157.
- 43. Holland, D. O.; Nayler, J. H. C. J. Chem. Soc. 1955, 1504-1511.
- 44. Fischer, H.; Schneller, K.; Zerweck, W. Chem. Ber. 1922, 55, 2390-2403.
- 45. Fischer, H.; Viaud, P. Chem. Ber. 1931, 64, 193-200.
- 46. Fischer, H; Goldschmidt, M.; Nuessler, W. Lieb. Ann. Chem. 1931, 486, 1-54.
- 47. Fischer, H.; Hendschel, A. Z. Physiol. Chem. 1931, 198, 33-42.
- 48. Cossy, J.; Belotti, D. J. Org. Chem. 1997, 62, 7900-7901.

- 49. Cossy, J.; Belotti, D. Tetrahedron 1999, 55, 5145-5156.
- 50. Domagala, J. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 1980, 21, 4997–5000.
- 51. Anderson, N. G.; Carson, J. R. J. Med. Chem. 1980, 23, 98-100.
- Galenko, A. V.; Khlebnikov, A. F.; Novikov, M. S.; Avdontceva, M. S. *Tetrahedron* 2015, 71, 1940-1951.
- 53. Alves, M. J.; Ferreira, P. M. .; Maia, H. L. .; Monteiro, L. S.; Gilchrist, T. L. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 4991-4995.
- 54. Abbasi, M.; Zamani Hargalani, F.; Afrashteh, S.; Rostamian, R. Can. J. Chem. 2019, 97, 848-855.
- 55. Mehrabi, H.; Pishahang, J. Synth. Commun. 2014, 44, 76-81.
- 56. Asghari, S.; Qandalee, M.; Behboodi, V.; Gorji, A. N.; Pasha, G. F. Chinese Chem. Lett. 2016, 27, 361-364.
- Mousavi, S. F.; Hossaini, Z.; Rostami-Charati, F.; Nami, N. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2020, 57, 3868-3881.
- 58. Soleimani Amiri, S. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2020, 57, 4057-4069.
- 59. Gong, T.-J.; Xu, M.-Y.; Yu, S.-H.; Yu, C.-G.; Su, W.; Lu, X.; Xiao, B.; Fu, Y. Org. Lett. 2018, 20, 570-573.
- 60. Fokas, D.; Patterson, J. E.; Slobodkin, G.; Baldino, C. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2003, 44, 5137-5140.
- 61. Yang, J. W.; List, B. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 5653-5655.
- 62. Wang, S.; Kraus, G. A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2018, 59, 1968-1969.
- 63. Tanaka, M.; Kobayashi, T.-A.; Sakakura, T. Angew. Chem. 1984, 96, 519-520.
- Barton, D. H. R.; Brown, B. D.; Ridley, D. D.; Widdowson, D. A.; Keys, A. J.; Leaver, C. J. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1975, 2069-2076.
- 65. Koza, G.; Keskin, S.; Özer, M. S.; Cengiz, B.; Şahin, E.; Balci, M. Tetrahedron 2013, 69, 395-409.
- 66. Zhuang, J.; Wang, C.; Xie, F.; Zhang, W. Tetrahedron 2009, 65, 9797-9800.
- 67. Jiang, X.; Gan, B.; Liu, J.; Xie, Y. Synlett 2016, 27, 2737-2741.
- 68. Monenschein, H.; Dräger, G.; Jung, A.; Kirschning, A. Chem. Eur. J. 1999, 5, 2270-2280.
- 69. Deng, J.-C.; Chuang, S.-C. Org. Lett. 2014, 16, 5792-5795.
- 70. Blicke, F. F.; Tsao, M. U. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1944, 66, 1645-1648.
- 71. Li, W.; Han, Y.; Chen, J. Tetrahedron 2017, 73, 5813–5819.
- 72. Micetich, R. G.; Raap, R. Org. Prep. Proced. Int. 1971, 3, 167-169.
- 73. Micetich, R. G. Org. Prep. Proced. Int. 1970, 2, 249-252.
- Randall, W. C.; Streeter, K. B.; Cresson, E. L.; Schwam, H.; Michelson, S. R.; Anderson, P. S.; Cragoe, E. J.; Williams, H. W. R.; Eichler, E.; Rooney, C. S. J. Med. Chem. 1979, 22, 608-614.
- Gauthier, J. Y.; Leblanc, Y.; Black, W. C.; Chan, C. C.; Cromlish, W. A.; Gordon, R.; Kennedey, B. P.; Lau, C. K.; Léger, S.; Wang, Z.; Ethier, D.; Guay, J.; Mancini, J.; Riendeau, D.; Tagari, P.; Vickers, P.; Wong, E.; Xu, L.; Prasit, P. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1996**, *6*, 87-92.
- 76. Unterhalt, B.; Gores, P. Arch. Pharm. 1989, 322, 839-840.
- 77. Cohen, V. I.; Gibson, R. E.; Fan, L. H.; de la Cruz, R.; Gitler, M. S.; Hariman, E.; Reba, R. C. J. Pharm. Sci. 1992, 81, 326-329.
- Merkt, F. K.; Höwedes, S. P.; Gers-Panther, C. F.; Gruber, I.; Janiak, C.; Müller, T. J. J. Chem. Eur. J. 2018, 24, 8114-8125.
- Klenc, J.; Raux, E.; Barnes, S.; Sullivan, S.; Duszynska, B.; Bojarski, A. J.; Strekowski, L. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2009, 46, 1259-1265.
- Kukolja, S.; Draheim, S. E.; Pfeil, J. L.; Cooper, R. D. G.; Graves, B. J.; Holmes, R. E.; Neel, D. A.; Huffman, G. W.; Webber, J. A. J. Med. Chem. 1985, 28, 1886-1896.
- 81. Fusco, R.; Sannicolo, F. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 1691-1696.
- Levchenko, K. S.; Barachevski, V. A.; Kobeleva, O. I.; Venidiktova, O. V.; Valova, T. M.; Bogacheva, A. M.; Chudov, K. A.; Grebennikov, E. P.; Shmelin, P. S.; Poroshin, N. O.; Adamov, G. E.; Yarovenko, V. N.; Krayushkin, M. M. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2015, *56*, 1085-1088.
- 83. Unterhalt, B.; Gores, P. Arch. Pharm. (Weinheim). 1989, 322, 839-840.
- Bochkov, A. Y.; Krayushkin, M. M.; Yarovenko, V. N.; Barachevsky, V. A.; Beletskaya, I. P.; Traven, V. F. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2013, 50, 891-898.

- Foschi, F.; Bonandi, E.; Mereu, A.; Pacchetti, B.; Gozzini, D.; Passarella, D. Arkivoc 2018, 2018, 423-430.
- 86. Hong, W.; Yuan, H.; Li, H.; Yang, X.; Gao, X.; Zhu, D. Org. Lett. 2011, 13, 1410-1413.
- 87. Traven, V. F.; Bochkov, A. Y.; Krayushkin, M. M.; Yarovenko, V. N.; Barachevsky, V. A.; Beletskaya, I. P. *Mendeleev Commun.* 2010, 20, 22-24.
- Aiken, S.; Gabbutt, C. D.; Heron, B. M.; Rice, C. R.; Zonidis, D. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2019, 17, 9578-9584.
- Falenczyk, C.; Schiedel, M.; Karaman, B.; Rumpf, T.; Kuzmanovic, N.; Grøtli, M.; Sippl, W.; Jung, M.; König, B. Chem. Sci. 2014, 5, 4794-4799.
- 90. Bittner, I.; Lüning, U. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2018, 2018, 2592-2602.
- 91. Wutz, D.; Falenczyk, C.; Kuzmanovic, N.; König, B. RSC Adv. 2015, 5, 18075-18086.
- Cornaggia, C.; Gundala, S.; Manoni, F.; Gopalasetty, N.; Connon, S. J. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2016, 14, 3040-3046.
- 93. Creary, X. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 5026-5030.
- 94. Infante, R.; Nieto, J.; Andrés, C. Chem. Eur. J. 2012, 18, 4375-4379.
- 95. Ren, X.; Du, H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138, 810-813.
- 96. Weinstock, L. M.; Currie, R. B.; Lovell, A. V. Synth. Commun. 1981, 11, 943-946.
- Jeffries, A. T.; Moore, K. C.; Ondeyka, D. M.; Springsteen, A. W.; MacDowell, D. W. H. J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 2885-2889.
- Prat, M.; Fernández, D.; Buil, M. A.; Crespo, M. I.; Casals, G.; Ferrer, M.; Tort, L.; Castro, J.; Monleón, J. M.; Gavaldà, A.; Miralpeix, M.; Ramos, I.; Doménech, T.; Vilella, D.; Antón, F.; Huerta, J. M.; Espinosa, S.; López, M.; Sentellas, S.; González, M.; Albertí, J.; Segarra, V.; Cárdenas, A.; Beleta, J.; Ryder, H. J. Med. Chem. 2009, 52, 5076-5092.
- Li, B.; Aliyu, M. A.; Gao, Z.; Li, T.; Dong, W.; Li, J.; Shi, E.; Tang, W. Org. Lett. 2020, 22, 4974-4978.
- 100. Kim, S.-O.; Kim, Y.-S.; Yun, H.-J.; Kang, I.; Yoon, Y.; Shin, N.; Son, H. J.; Kim, H.; Ko, M. J.; Kim, B.; Kim, K.; Kim, Y.-H.; Kwon, S.-K. *Macromolecules* **2013**, *46*, 3861-3869.
- 101. Mizota, I.; Tanaka, K.; Shimizu, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2012, 53, 1847-1850.
- 102. Hari, Y.; Kondo, R.; Date, K.; Aoyama, T. Tetrahedron 2009, 65, 8708-8713.
- 103. Yamada, T.; Kuwata, M.; Takakura, R.; Monguchi, Y.; Sajiki, H.; Sawama, Y. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2018, 360, 637-641.
- 104. Enders, D.; Rembiak, A.; Stöckel, B. A. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2013, 355, 1937-1942.
- 105. Ozawa, F.; Kawasaki, N.; Yamamoto, T.; Yamamoto, A. Chem. Lett. 1985, 14, 567-570.
- 106. Tanaka, M.; Kobayashi, T.-A.; Sakakura, T. J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 1985, 53, 837-838.
- 107. Sakakura, T.; Yamashita, H.; Kobayashi, T.; Hayashi, T.; Tanaka, M. J. Org. Chem. 1987, 52, 5733-5740.
- 108. Jiang, J. J. Chem. Res. 2019, 43, 235-240.
- Wentzel, B. B.; Donners, M. P. J.; Alsters, P. L.; Feiters, M. C.; Nolte, R. J. M. *Tetrahedron* 2000, 56, 7797-7803.
- 110. Ma, M.; Li, C.; Peng, L.; Xie, F.; Zhang, X.; Wang, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 2005, 46, 3927-3929.
- 111. O'Connor, N. R.; Bolgar, P.; Stoltz, B. M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2016, 57, 849-851.
- 112. Kumar, Y.; Jaiswal, Y.; Kumar, A. J. Org. Chem. 2016, 81, 12247-12257.
- Chen, C.-T.; Bettigeri, S.; Weng, S.-S.; Pawar, V. D.; Lin, Y.-H.; Liu, C.-Y.; Lee, W.-Z. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 8175-8185.
- 114. Chiarino, D.; Napoletano, M.; Sala, A. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1988, 25, 1283-1285.
- 115. Saha, P.; Ray, S. K.; Singh, V. K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2017, 58, 1765-1769.
- 116. Raghunadh, A.; Meruva, S.; Kumar, N.; Kumar, G.; Rao, L.; Syam Kumar, U. *Synthesis* **2012**, *2012*, 283-289.
- 117. Xie, Y.; Liu, J.; Huang, Y.; Yao, L. Tetrahedron Lett. 2015, 56, 3793-3795.
- 118. Yu, Q.; Zhang, Y.; Wan, J.-P. Green Chem. 2019, 21, 3436-3441.
- 119. Washino, T.; Yoshikura, M.; Obata, S. Agric. Biol. Chem. 1986, 50, 565-568.
- 120. Khan, S.; Ahmed, Q. N. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2016, 2016, 5377-5385.

- 121. Xu, X.; Ding, W.; Lin, Y.; Song, Q. Org. Lett. 2015, 17, 516-519.
- 122. Luo, X.; He, R.; Liu, Q.; Gao, Y.; Li, J.; Chen, X.; Zhu, Z.; Huang, Y.; Li, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2020, 85, 5220-5230.
- 123. Zhang, C.; Feng, P.; Jiao, N. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2013, 135, 15257-15262.
- 124. Das, D. K.; Kumar Pampana, V. K.; Hwang, K. C. Chem. Sci. 2018, 9, 7318-7326.
- 125. Laha, R. M.; Khamarui, S.; Manna, S. K.; Maiti, D. K. Org. Lett. 2016, 18, 144-147.
- 126. Han, T.; Luo, X. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2018, 16, 8253-8257.
- 127. Yavari, I.; Hossaini, Z.; Seyfi, S.; Shirgahi-Talari, F. Monatsh. Chem. 2008, 139, 1257-1259.
- Hamedani, N. F.; Ghazvini, M.; Sheikholeslami-Farahani, F.; Bagherian-Jamnani, M. T. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2020, 57, 1588-1598.
- 129. Yavari, I.; Hossaini, Z.; Sabbaghan, M. Tetrahedron Lett. 2008, 49, 844-846.
- 130. Alizadeh, A.; Vahabi, A. H.; Bazgir, A.; Khavasi, H. R.; Zhu, Z.; Ng, S. W. *RSC Adv.* **2015**, *5*, 85028-85034.
- 131. Hu, S.; Huang, Y.; Poss, M. A.; Gentles, R. G. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 2005, 42, 661-667.
- 132. Lugovik, K. I.; Eltyshev, A. K.; Benassi, E.; Belskaya, N. P. Chem. Asian J. 2017, 12, 2410-2425.
- 133. Ziegler, F. E.; Spitzner, E. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1973, 95, 7146-7149.
- 134. Alvarez, M.; Lavilla, R.; Bosch, J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 4457-4460.
- 135. Hlasta, D. J.; Luttinger, D.; Perrone, M. H.; Silbernagel, M. J.; Ward, S. J.; Haubrich, D. R. J. Med. Chem. 1987, 30, 1555-1562.
- 136. Badenock, J. C.; Jordan, J. A.; Gribble, G. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 2013, 54, 2759-2762.
- 137. Hasan, I.; Marinelli, E. R.; Lin, L.-C. C.; Fowler, F. W.; Levy, A. B. J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 157-164.
- 138. Too, P. C.; Chua, S. H.; Wong, S. H.; Chiba, S. J. Org. Chem. 2011, 76, 6159-6168.
- 139. Aoki, K.; Koseki, J.; Takeda, S.; Aburada, M.; Miyamoto, K. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 2007, 55, 922-925.
- 140. Mori, R.; Kato, A.; Komenoi, K.; Kurasaki, H.; Iijima, T.; Kawagoshi, M.; Kiran, Y. B.; Takeda, S.; Sakai, N.; Konakahara, T. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **2014**, *82*, 16-35.
- 141. Magnus, P.; Thurston, L. S. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 1166-1170.
- 142. Pelkey, E. T.; Chang, L.; Gribble, G. W. Chem. Commun. 1996, 53, 1909-1910.
- 143. Modi, S. P.; Zayed, A. hadi; Archer, S. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 3084-3087.
- 144. Wanner, M. J.; Koomen, G. J.; Pandit, U. K. Tetrahedron 1983, 39, 3673-3681.
- 145. Yang, X.; Althammer, A.; Knochel, P. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 1665-1667.
- 146. Leeson, P. D. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1984, 2125-2128.
- 147. Rahman, A.-; Sultana, M.; Hassan, I.; Hasan, N. M. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1983, 2093-2096.
- 148. Atta-ur-Rahman; Sultana, M.; Hassan, I. Tetrahedron Lett. 1983, 24, 1845-1848.
- 149. Patel, P. A.; Kvaratskhelia, N.; Mansour, Y.; Antwi, J.; Feng, L.; Koneru, P.; Kobe, M. J.; Jena, N.; Shi, G.; Mohamed, M. S.; Li, C.; Kessl, J. J.; Fuchs, J. R. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2016**, *26*, 4748-4752.
- 150. Clayton, K. A.; Black, D. S.; Harper, J. B. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 10615-10621.
- 151. Keawin, T.; Rajviroongit, S.; Black, D. S. *Tetrahedron* 2005, *61*, 853-861.
- 152. Wahyuningsih, T. D.; Kumar, N.; Black, D. S. Tetrahedron 2007, 63, 6713-6719.
- 153. Clayton, K. A.; Black, D. S.; Harper, J. B. Tetrahedron 2008, 64, 3183-3189.
- 154. Douara, B.; Esvan, Y. J.; Pereira, E.; Giraud, F.; Volodina, Y. L.; Kaluzhny, D. N.; Shtil, A. A.; Anizon, F.; Moreau, P. *Tetrahedron* 2018, 74, 892-901.
- 155. Feldman, P. L.; Rapoport, H. Synthesis 1986, 1986, 735-737.
- 156. Brieke, C.; Heckel, A. Chem. Eur. J. 2013, 19, 15726-15734.
- 157. Gunosewoyo, H.; Midzak, A.; Gaisina, I. N.; Sabath, E. V.; Fedolak, A.; Hanania, T.; Brunner, D.; Papadopoulos, V.; Kozikowski, A. P. J. Med. Chem. 2013, 56, 5115-5129.
- 158. Zhang, Q.; Chang, G.; Zhang, L. Chinese Chem. Lett. 2018, 29, 513-516.
- 159. Wei, W.; Chang, G.; Xu, Y.; Yang, L. J. Mater. Chem. A 2018, 6, 18794-18798.
- 160. Ye, Q.; Li, M.; Zhou, Y.-B.; Cao, J.-Y.; Xu, L.; Li, Y.-J.; Han, L.; Gao, J.-R.; Hu, Y.-Z.; Li, J. Arch. Pharm. 2013, 346, 349-358.
- 161. Faul, M. M.; Winneroski, L. L.; Krumrich, C. A. J. Org. Chem. 1999, 64, 2465-2470.
- 162. Yoo, E.; Salunke, D. B.; Sil, D.; Guo, X.; Salyer, A. C. D.; Hermanson, A. R.; Kumar, M.; Malladi, S.

S.; Balakrishna, R.; Thompson, W. H.; Tanji, H.; Ohto, U.; Shimizu, T.; David, S. A. J. Med. Chem. 2014, 57, 7955-7970.

- 163. Catarzi, D.; Colotta, V.; Varano, F.; Cecchi, L.; Filacchioni, G.; Galli, A.; Costagli, C. Arch. Pharm. 1997, 330, 383-386.
- 164. Droste, H.; Wileland, T. Lieb. Ann. Chem. 1987, 1987, 901-910.
- 165. Bergmann, T.; Schories, D.; Steffan, B. Tetrahedron 1997, 53, 2055-2060.
- 166. Lenzi, O.; Colotta, V.; Catarzi, D.; Varano, F.; Squarcialupi, L.; Filacchioni, G.; Varani, K.; Vincenzi, F.; Borea, P. A.; Ben, D. D.; Lambertucci, C.; Cristalli, G. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2011, 19, 3757-3768.
- 167. Okauchi, T.; Itonaga, M.; Minami, T.; Owa, T.; Kitoh, K.; Yoshino, H. Org. Lett. 2000, 2, 1485-1487.
- 168. Pinchuk, B.; Horbert, R.; Döbber, A.; Kuhl, L.; Peifer, C. Molecules 2016, 21, 570.
- 169. Yang, Z.; Liu, H.; Pan, B.; He, F.; Pan, Z. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2018, 16, 4127-4140.
- 170. Shi, L.; Zhong, Z.; Li, X.; Zhou, Y.; Pan, Z. J. Med. Chem. 2019, 62, 1054-1066.
- 171. Wu, J. C.; Song, R. J.; Wang, Z. Q.; Huang, X. C.; Xie, Y. X.; Li, J. H. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 3453-3457.
- 172. Yi, N.; Li, J.; Zhang, H.; Wang, R.; Jiang, J.; Deng, W.; Zeng, Z.; Xiang, J. Synth. Commun. 2017, 47, 2062-2069.
- 173. Sureshbabu, R.; Balamurugan, R.; Mohanakrishnan, A. K. Tetrahedron 2009, 65, 3582-3591.
- 174. Nicolaou, K. C.; Estrada, A. A.; Lee, S. H.; Freestone, G. C. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 5364-5368.
- 175. Nicolaou, K. C.; Estrada, A. A.; Freestone, G. C.; Lee, S. H.; Alvarez-Mico, X. *Tetrahedron* 2007, *63*, 6088-6114.
- 176. Mallik, S.; Bhajammanavar, V.; Ramakrishna, I.; Baidya, M. Org. Lett. 2017, 19, 3843-3846.
- 177. Zhang, Z.; Yang, Z.; Wong, H.; Zhu, J.; Meanwell, N. A.; Kadow, J. F.; Wang, T. J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 6226-6227.
- 178. Ganser, C.; Lauermann, E.; Maderer, A.; Stauder, T.; Kramb, J.-P.; Plutizki, S.; Kindler, T.; Moehler, M.; Dannhardt, G. J. Med. Chem. 2012, 55, 9531-9540.
- 179. Wang, T.; Zhang, Z.; Wallace, O. B.; Deshpande, M.; Fang, H.; Yang, Z.; Zadjura, L. M.; Tweedie, D. L.; Huang, S.; Zhao, F.; Ranadive, S.; Robinson, B. S.; Gong, Y.-F.; Ricarrdi, K.; Spicer, T. P.; Deminie, C.; Rose, R.; Wang, H.-G. H.; Blair, W. S.; Shi, P.-Y.; Lin, P.; Colonno, R. J.; Meanwell, N. A. J. Med. Chem. 2003, 46, 4236-4239.
- Buil, M. A.; Calbet, M.; Castillo, M.; Castro, J.; Esteve, C.; Ferrer, M.; Forns, P.; González, J.; López, S.; Roberts, R. S.; Sevilla, S.; Vidal, B.; Vidal, L.; Vilaseca, P. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* 2016, *113*, 102-133.
- 181. Cahill, M. M.; O'Shea, K. D.; Pierce, L. T.; Winfield, H. J.; Eccles, K. S.; Lawrence, S. E.; McCarthy, F. O. *Pharmaceuticals* **2017**, *10*, 62.
- 182. Winfield, H. J.; Cahill, M. M.; O'Shea, K. D.; Pierce, L. T.; Robert, T.; Ruchaud, S.; Bach, S.; Marchand, P.; McCarthy, F. O. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2018**, *26*, 4209-4224.
- 183. Tuyishime, M.; Lawrence, R.; Cocklin, S. Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett. 2016, 26, 228-234.
- 184. Meuser, M.; Murphy, M.; Rashad, A.; Cocklin, S. Molecules 2018, 23, 1940-XXXX.
- 185. Tuyishime, M.; Danish, M.; Princiotto, A.; Mankowski, M. K.; Lawrence, R.; Lombart, H.-G.; Esikov, K.; Berniac, J.; Liang, K.; Ji, J.; Ptak, R. G.; Madani, N.; Cocklin, S. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2014, 24, 5439-5445.
- 186. Pikul, S.; Cheng, H.; Cheng, A.; Huang, C. D.; Ke, A.; Kuo, L.; Thompson, A.; Wilder, S. Org. Process Res. Dev. 2013, 17, 907-914.
- 187. Fox, R. J.; Tripp, J. C.; Schultz, M. J.; Payack, J. F.; Fanfair, D. D.; Mudryk, B. M.; Murugesan, S.; Chen, C.-P. H.; La Cruz, T. E.; Ivy, S. E.; Broxer, S.; Cullen, R.; Erdemir, D.; Geng, P.; Xu, Z.; Fritz, A.; Doubleday, W. W.; Conlon, D. A. Org. Process Res. Dev. 2017, 21, 1095-1109.
- 188. Wang, T.; Ueda, Y.; Zhang, Z.; Yin, Z.; Matiskella, J.; Pearce, B. C.; Yang, Z.; Zheng, M.; Parker, D. D.; Yamanaka, G. A.; Gong, Y.-F.; Ho, H.-T.; Colonno, R. J.; Langley, D. R.; Lin, P.-F.; Meanwell, N. A.; Kadow, J. F. *J. Med. Chem.* **2018**, *61*, 6308-6327.
- 189. Campagna, F.; Palluotto, F.; Carotti, A.; Maciocco, E. Farmaco 2004, 59, 849-856.
- 190. Pinna, G.; Loriga, G.; Lazzari, P.; Ruiu, S.; Falzoi, M.; Frau, S.; Pau, A.; Murineddu, G.; Asproni, B.;

Pinna, G. A. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2014, 82, 281-292.

- 191. Dean, F. M.; Manunapichu, K. J. Chem. Soc. 1957, 3112-3123.
- 192. Nagahara, T.; Yokoyama, Y.; Inamura, K.; Katakura, S.; Komoriya, S.; Yamaguchi, H.; Hara, T.; Iwamoto, M. J. Med. Chem. 1994, 37, 1200-1207.
- 193. Chopin, N.; Gérard, H.; Chataigner, I.; Piettre, S. R. J. Org. Chem. 2009, 74, 1237-1246.
- 194. Baruah, P. K.; Dinsmore, J.; King, A. M.; Salomé, C.; De Ryck, M.; Kaminski, R.; Provins, L.; Kohn, H. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 2012, 20, 3551-3564.
- 195. Maiorana, S.; Rigamonti, C.; Ticozzelli, M. T.; Bossi, A.; Licandro, E.; Giannini, C. *Heterocycles* 2008, 76, 1439-1470.
- 196. Buehler, C. A.; Smith, H. A.; Nayak, K. V.; Magee, T. A. J. Org. Chem. 1961, 26, 1573-1577.
- 197. Indelli, M. T.; Carli, S.; Ghirotti, M.; Chiorboli, C.; Ravaglia, M.; Garavelli, M.; Scandola, F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2008, 130, 7286-7299.
- 198. Barker, P. L.; Bahia, C. Tetrahedron 1990, 46, 2691-2694.
- 199. Yavari, I.; Adib, M. Tetrahedron 2001, 57, 5873-5878.
- 200. Santo, R. Di; Costi, R.; Artico, M.; Massa, S. J. Heterocycl. Chem. 1996, 33, 2019-2023.
- Gurovets, A. S.; Sharf, V. Z.; Taits, S. Z.; Vol'kenshtein, Y. B.; Fabrichnyi, B. P. Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. 1984, 20, 1331-1336.
- 202. Shimkin, A. A.; Shirinian, V. Z.; Mailian, A. K.; Lonshakov, D. V.; Gorokhov, V. V.; Krayushkin, M. M. Russ. Chem. Bull. 2011, 60, 139-142.
- 203. Binder, D.; Noe, C. R.; Baumann, K.; Holzer, W. Arch. Pharm. (Weinheim). 1988, 321, 391-395.
- 204. Mazuela, J.; Antonsson, T.; Johansson, M. J.; Knerr, L.; Marsden, S. P. Org. Lett. 2017, 19, 5541-5544.
- 205. Ntaganda, R.; Milovic, T.; Tiburcio, J.; Thadani, A. N. Chem. Commun. 2008, 4052-4054.
- 206. Bocknack, B. M.; Wang, L. C.; Hughes, F. W.; Krische, M. J. Tetrahedron 2005, 61, 6266-6275.
- 207. Kurono, N.; Uemura, M.; Ohkuma, T. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2010, 2010, 1455-1459.
- 208. Matsuoka, J.; Inuki, S.; Matsuda, Y.; Miyamoto, Y.; Otani, M.; Oka, M.; Oishi, S.; Ohno, H. Chem. Eur. J. 2020, 26, 11150-11157.
- 209. Wang, H.; Zhu, T.-S.; Xu, M.-H. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2012, 10, 9158-9164.
- 210. Islam, I.; Bryant, J.; Chou, Y.-L.; Kochanny, M. J.; Lee, W.; Phillips, G. B.; Yu, H.; Adler, M.; Whitlow, M.; Ho, E.; Lentz, D.; Polokoff, M. A.; Subramanyam, B.; Wu, J. M.; Zhu, D.; Feldman, R. I.; Arnaiz, D. O. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2007**, *17*, 3814-3818.
- 211. Garcia-Castro, M.; Annamalai, M.; Golz, C.; Strohmann, C.; Kumar, K. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 2017, 5660-5665.
- 212. Huynh, H.; Çalimsiz, S.; Wangun, H.; Rainey, T.; McGinitie, T.; Liao, X.; Yu, L. Synthesis 2018, 50, 2221-2230.
- 213. Peifer, C.; Stoiber, T.; Unger, E.; Totzke, F.; Schächtele, C.; Marmé, D.; Brenk, R.; Klebe, G.; Schollmeyer, D.; Dannhardt, G. J. Med. Chem. 2006, 49, 1271-1281.
- 214. Li, Y.; Liu, B.; Xu, M.-H. Org. Lett. 2018, 20, 2306-2310.
- Li, L.-S.; Zhou, Y.; Zhao, J.; Dragovich, P.; Stankovic, N.; Bertolini, T.; Murphy, D.; Sun, Z.; Tran, C.; Ayida, B.; Ruebsam, F.; Webber, S. *Synthesis* 2007, 2007, 3301-3308.
- Dragovich, P. S.; Bertolini, T. M.; Ayida, B. K.; Li, L.-S.; Murphy, D. E.; Ruebsam, F.; Sun, Z.; Zhou, Y. *Tetrahedron* 2007, 63, 1154-1166.
- Murphy, D. E.; Dragovich, P. S.; Ayida, B. K.; Bertolini, T. M.; Li, L.-S.; Ruebsam, F.; Stankovic, N. S.; Sun, Z.; Zhao, J.; Zhou, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* 2008, 49, 811-815.
- 218. Lancelot, J. C.; Laduree, D.; Rault, S.; Robba, M. Chem. Pharm. Bull. 1985, 33, 4769-4774.
- 219. Lee, H.-J.; Cho, C.-W. J. Org. Chem. 2013, 78, 3306-3312.
- 220. Alves, M. J.; Ferreira, P. M. T.; Maia, H. L. S.; Monteiro, L. S.; Gilchrist, T. L. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 4991-4995.
- Volochnyuk, D. M.; Ryabukhin, S. V.; Plaskon, A. S.; Dmytriv, Y. V.; Grygorenko, O. O.; Mykhailiuk, P. K.; Krotko, D. G.; Pushechnikov, A.; Tolmachev, A. A. J. Comb. Chem. 2010, 12, 510-517.